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Celgene is committed to 

delivering innovative therapies 

designed to improve the lives 

of patients worldwide.

Celgene2004
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Stockholder Information

Celgene common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System. 

NASDAQ Symbol: CELG. Celgene options are listed on the Chicago Board Options

Exchange. CBOE symbol: LQH.

As of April 7, 2005, there were 49,885 holders of record of the Company’s 

common stock. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sales 

price of the common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the 

NASDAQ National Market System and has been adjusted to reflect the 2 for 1 stock

split in October 2004.

2004 2003

High Low High Low

First Quarter $24.46 18.74 $13.98 10.08

Second Quarter 30.30 22.50 18.57 12.36

Third Quarter 30.09 23.33 24.44 14.26

Fourth Quarter 32.58 25.75 24.08 18.26

The price quotations set forth above represent prices to dealers and do not

include retail markups, markdowns or commissions. Celgene has not paid, and 

does not anticipate paying in the near future, dividends on its common stock.

Stockholders, analysts and other representatives of the financial community 

wishing more information about Celgene should direct their inquiries to:

Investor Relations

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, New Jersey 07901

(908) 673-9000

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Celgene Corporation will be held on 

Wednesday, June 15, 2005, at Celgene Headquarters in Summit, NJ, at 1:00 P.M.

Form 10-K

Copies of the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 may be obtained 

by stockholders without charge upon written inquiry to the Corporate Secretary 

at the corporate headquarters.

Ambio-dry™, Biovance™ and LifebankUSA™ are trademarks of Celgene Corporation       

REVLIMID®, IMiDs®, THALOMID® and S.T.E.P.S. are registered trademarks of Celgene Corporation

FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN-XR™ are trademarks of Novartis Pharma AG

Ritalin® is a registered trademark of Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation

ALKERAN® is a registered trademark of Glaxo SmithKline Corporation

PRMP™ is a trademark of Pharmion Corporation © Copyright 2005 Celgene Corporation

Corporate Headquarters

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, NJ 07901

(908) 673-9000

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer 

& Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10039

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

150 John F. Kennedy Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Certain information 

contained in this annual 

report are forward looking

statements. Factors that

appear with the forward 

looking statements or in 

the Company’s Securities 

and Exchange Commission 

filings could cause the

Company’s actual results 

to differ materially from 

those expressed in any 

forward looking statements 

in this annual report.

Visit our website at

www.celgene.com

Corporate Information

On March 7, 2005, we announced a major breakthrough regarding our leading 

investigative oral compound, REVLIMID, in treating multiple myeloma, a serious 

blood cancer.

An independent committee reported positive data from two important Phase III

trials in previously treated multiple myeloma patients who faced very limited options

for further therapy. Patients in the trials receiving REVLIMID plus dexamethasone

showed a statistically significant improvement in the length of time before their 

disease progressed, compared to patients receiving dexamethasone and a placebo. 

The results were so striking that all patients who were not on REVLIMID enrolled in

the 97 clinical sites worldwide were offered the opportunity to add REVLIMID to 

their dexamethasone treatment regimen. 

Based on these extraordinary clinical results, we accelerated discussions with the

Food and Drug Administration and international regulatory authorities regarding the

submission of this data for potential approval to market REVLIMID. In the meantime,

we are working to create REVLIMID Expanded Access Programs in the U.S. and Europe

for patients in need. 

REVLIMID® Exceeds Expectations
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As we work to improve people’s lives, 

we are building a highly profitable 

global biopharmaceutical company 

focused on the discovery, 

development and commercialization 

of innovative therapies for 

unmet medical needs in cancer 

and inflammatory diseases. 
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In 2004, we made great strides in many areas, 

as Celgene completed its second successful year 

as a profitable company – and prepared for a 

promising future. As we move forward, we take 

great pride in the fact that we are helping tens 

of thousands of patients worldwide and 

improving people’s lives. 

During 2004, total revenue increased by 39% to

$377.5 million, while net income rose more than 

two-fold to $52.8 million, or $0.31 per diluted 

share. We finished the year with $748.5 million 

in cash and marketable securities. In October, 

our Board of Directors announced a two-for-one 

stock split. 

Our financial results have enabled us to reinvest

a great deal of capital in our future. In 2004, we 

devoted more than 40% of our revenue to research

and development. As a consequence of our ongoing

investment in cutting-edge science, we now have 

a robust pipeline comprising 19 compounds, 

six of which are in clinical trials. 

REVLIMID®, Our Most Advanced New Drug Candidate

REVLIMID (lenalidomide), has received “fast track”

designation and orphan drug status from the Food

and Drug Administration (FDA). REVLIMID is showing

promise in several important studies, including the

large, randomized, controlled Phase III multiple 

myeloma (MM) special protocol assessment trials –

and Phase II trials for myelodysplastic syndromes

(MDS). The REVLIMID Phase III trials included patients

with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma, and

overwhelmingly exceeded expectations for efficacy

during an interim review. The Phase III trials enrolled

705 patients and are being conducted at 97 sites

worldwide, including sites in the U.S., Canada, Europe

and Australia. In addition to the initial positive 

efficacy profile of REVLIMID, its preliminary safety 

profile also appeared favorable. 

Celgene recently completed the rolling submission 

of its New Drug Application (NDA) for REVLIMID to 

the Division of Oncology Drug Products at the FDA 

for review. The Company’s NDA is seeking approval 

to market REVLIMID as a treatment for transfusion-

dependent patients with myelodysplastic syndromes

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

John W. Jackson

Chairman and 

Chief Executive Officer

TOTA L  R EV E N U E Dollars in Millions

377.504

271.503

135.702

114.201

84.900

“Celgene completed its second 

successful year as a profitable 

company – and prepared for 

a promising future.”
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(MDS) with a 5q deletion chromosomal abnormality. 

If approved, REVLIMID® could have a profound 

positive effect on the lives of tens of thousands 

of patients around the world and on Celgene.

REVLIMID and other Celgene compounds continue 

to generate excitement among the medical and 

clinical communities. THALOMID® (thalidomide) 

is the subject of more than 100 ongoing trials 

worldwide in multiple indications. REVLIMID is 

being evaluated in more than 30 clinical trials. 

At the American Society of Hematology meeting 

in December 2004, 113 abstracts dealing with 

Celgene products were presented. 

THALOMID Delivers the Resources that Drive Celgene

THALOMID was the chief driver of our financial 

success – as a result of the growing volume of positive

clinical data presented at major international medical

meetings and in peer-reviewed journals. Sales of

THALOMID totaled $308.6 million, versus $223.7 

million the prior year – as an increasing number 

of patients benefited from our product. We look 

forward to being able to market THALOMID for 

use in multiple myeloma. In October 2004, we

received an “approvable” letter from the FDA, 

and expect to submit an amendment to this 

application in 2Q of 2005.

Since THALOMID can have serious side effects, an

important feature of its use is our innovative and 

proprietary S.T.E.P.S.® (System for Thalidomide

Education and Prescribing Safety) program, which

mandates a series of strict controls to assure – to the

maximum extent possible – patients’ safe access to

the drug. In November 2004, Celgene licensed certain 

intellectual property from its S.T.E.P.S. program to 

several companies in the pharmaceutical industry 

that make and distribute a beneficial but potentially

harmful drug. As drug safety has increasingly 

become a subject of public concern, we anticipate 

that our S.T.E.P.S. program may be more widely 

used to enable healthcare providers to offer 

significant clinical benefits to patients in need while

reducing the risk of serious side effects. In 2004, 

our Ritalin®/FOCALIN™ franchise contributed 

$38.6 million to our income statements. Under 

an agreement with Novartis, which markets the 

drugs, Celgene receives royalty payments on the 

R & D I N V E STM E NT Dollars in Millions

160.904

122.703

84.902

67.601

56.100

“Central to the value we are 

building is our intellectual 

property estate.”

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.

President and 

Chief Operating Officer
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entire Ritalin® family of products, which are used to

treat attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD).

Revenue from Ritalin-related products is expected to

continue growing in 2005. In October, encouraging

results regarding the newest compound in this 

family, long-acting FOCALIN-XR™, were reported

at the annual meeting of the American Academy 

of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry. One adult

and two pediatric clinical studies suggested that

investigational once-daily ADHD treatment with 

this drug is safe and effective for both children 

and adults. Based on these results, Novartis filed 

a New Drug Application in July 2004, seeking approval

for FOCALIN-XR; FDA review is expected to be 

completed by late May of this year. 

Like THALOMID®, FOCALIN™ and the Ritalin 

product family, ALKERAN® contributed to our 

2004 revenue performance. This drug, which 

we market and distribute through an agreement

with GlaxoSmithKline, is an established therapy 

for the treatment of multiple myeloma – and 

thus complements our clinical product portfolio. 

Advanced Therapies with Transforming Potential

Beyond REVLIMID® and the other therapies we are

already marketing successfully, Celgene has a rich and

deep pipeline of novel compounds that we believe 

have the potential to help change standard of care –

and to contribute to our commercial success. Many

biopharmaceutical companies tend to have a narrow

focus, but Celgene pursues drug targets that may be

capable of treating a broad range of important diseases.

Our numerous innovative small molecule programs

include our proprietary immunomodulatory 

investigational agents, or IMiDs®, such as ACTIMID™,

CC-11006 and CC-10015. In addition, we are conducting

leading research in cellular signaling technology with

our kinase and ligase inhibitor programs. We are 

also doing important work with oral TNF alpha and

Phosphodieserase 4 inhibitors and a class of compounds

called benzopyrans. Our Celgene Cellular Therapeutics

unit is engaged in groundbreaking research on non-

controversial sources of stem cells. In 2004, this cell

therapy research led to an FDA-allowed investigational

new drug application for our initial stem cell trial in 

a sickle cell anemia program. Our diverse pipeline 

of products have the potential to target diseases 

that range from blood and solid tumor cancers to

inflammatory and immunological disorders. 

Central to the value we are building at Celgene is our

solid intellectual property estate. We have taken great

care to assemble patents that cover a wide variety of

areas across multiple discovery and regulatory programs,

ranging from composition of matter, pharmaceutical

composition and process patents, to methods of 

treatment, screening methodologies, business methods

and diagnostics. Because we have the capability to

finance new drug development from the revenue 

generated by our current product portfolio, we have

been able to retain full ownership of the rights to our

core pharmaceutical properties. The result is that we

will be able to realize the full financial potential of

D I LUTE D  EA R N I N G S  P E R  S H A R E

0.3104

0.1503

-0.5902

-0.0101

-0.1200

0
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nearly all the drugs in our research and clinical

pipeline for our shareholders.

A Highly Promising Future

As Celgene moved closer in 2004 to its goal of building

a market-leading global biopharmaceutical company, we

took several important steps to strengthen our position.

In December, we moved to new headquarters in

Summit, New Jersey, where we now have expanded

office and lab space. During the year, we also integrated

strategic THALOMID® manufacturing capabilities

through our acquisition of Penn-T Pharmaceuticals in

the United Kingdom, a transaction that positions us 

to increase access to THALOMID for patients in need.

In order to make this drug even more accessible to

patients around the world, we expanded our collabo-

ration agreement with Pharmion Corporation, which 

develops and distributes THALOMID outside the

United States. In addition, this agreement included

granting Pharmion license rights to develop and 

market thalidomide in three new Asian territories:

Hong Kong, Korea and Taiwan. Both companies’ global 

sales of thalidomide continue to be delivered through

S.T.E.P.S.®, our industry-leading controlled distribution

system, and through Pharmion’s PRMP™ (Pharmion

Risk Management Program) – our S.T.E.P.S.®- like 

program licensed to Pharmion. 

Finally, we expanded our global capabilities by estab-

lishing Celgene International in Switzerland, a move

that will favorably position us to optimize the potential

of future international commercial opportunities. 

We expect that 2005 will be another profitable year

for Celgene. Our THALOMID franchise remains an

important part of the financial engine continuing to

deliver the resources that drive Celgene to meet its

objectives. Moreover, should REVLIMID®, THALOMID

and FOCALIN-XR™ receive FDA approval and label

expansion over the next twelve months, our company

will have taken a major step toward becoming a

world-class competitor in the biopharmaceutical

industry – and making a difference in the lives of

many thousands of patients who are suffering from

serious disabling diseases. 

With our strong management team, the remarkable

dedication of our 749 employees worldwide, and the

continued support of our partners and shareholders –

all of whom played an important role in our 2004 

success – we are optimistic that Celgene will continue

to build momentum in the years ahead.

John W. Jackson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.
President and Chief Operating Officer

E M P LOYE E S

74904

70303

39402

32601

25100

“Celgene has a rich and deep

pipeline of novel compounds that

we believe has the potential to

help change the standard of care.”
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Paul G. Richardson, M.D.

Clinical Director, 

Jerome Lipper Multiple Myeloma Center

Dana Farber Cancer Institute

Research with THALOMID® “represents 

a paradigm shift… Multiple myeloma

was an illness in the past with an

abysmal prognosis. With advances 

such as these novel biotherapies, it’s

becoming in my view a chronic illness 

in the majority of patients.”

In the fall of 2004, the Eastern Cooperative

Oncology Group (ECOG) reported results 

of a study showing that THALOMID®, when

used with dexamethasone, provides 

a significant clinical benefit in newly 

diagnosed multiple myeloma. Independent

studies and articles in peer-reviewed 

publications lend additional support to 

these findings. 
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Our mission at Celgene is to deliver novel therapies

that will improve the lives of patients and families 

facing the challenges of cancer or serious inflammatory 

diseases. Our Company’s treatments include several

marketed drugs that have already made Celgene 

profitable, plus a rich and deep pipeline of new 

clinical compounds that encompass both small 

molecule and cell-based therapies.

THALOMID® (thalidomide), our lead commercial 

product, received U.S. Food and Drug Administration

(FDA) clearance on July 16, 1998 for the acute treatment

of cutaneous manifestations of moderate to severe

erythema nodosum leprosum (ENL). THALOMID is the

financial engine that drives our Company’s growth 

and supports our extensive research program and other

vital activities. THALOMID is now being evaluated in

more than 100 clinical studies worldwide for use in

combating hematological and solid tumor cancers.

The use of THALOMID to treat potentially multiple 

disease conditions is based on an expanding volume

of clinical data reported at major international medical

meetings and in peer-reviewed medical journals.

THALOMID’s principal use today is in treating all

stages of multiple myeloma (MM), a serious blood 

disease that afflicts approximately 50,000 U.S.

patients and is the second most common blood 

cancer. This disease affects more than 200,000 

people worldwide. Since its launch, more than

120,000 patients – registered through our S.T.E.P.S.®

program – have been treated with THALOMID. 

At the American Society of Hematology meeting in

the fall of 2004, the Eastern Cooperative Oncology

Group (ECOG) reported results of a large, randomized

Phase III study (E1A00) showing that THALOMID, 

in combination with dexamethasone, provides a 

statistically significant clinical benefit, versus 

dexamethasone alone, in newly diagnosed multiple

myeloma. In late October, Celgene received an 

approvable letter from the FDA’s Division of Oncology

Drug Products, stating that sufficient support for 

an accelerated approval could be provided by the

results of this ECOG study. The Company expects that

submission of this additional data and completion 

of required responses and its review by the FDA will

result in an accelerated approval of THALOMID as 

a treatment for multiple myeloma. This approval,

expected during the second half of 2005, would 

allow Celgene to actively market THALOMID for 

the treatment of multiple myeloma. 

In addition, THALOMID is being tested in a wide 

variety of other cancers, including prostate cancer 

and serious immuno-inflammatory conditions.

Creating powerful drugs to help   

patients fight serious illnesses 

Novel Therapies
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REVLIMID®, is our most advanced clinical compound. 

Our objective is to maximize its clinical potential to

help create a new standard of care for patients 

worldwide who are battling hematological and other 

cancers. REVLIMID is a highly potent member of a 

new class of novel immunomodulatory drugs, or

IMiDs®, which in clinical studies – presented at

major international medical meetings – demonstrate

anti-cancer response. 

Some 30 clinical trials are currently evaluating REVLIMID

in the treatment of a broad range of conditions,

including multiple myeloma, the malignant blood cell

disorders known as myelodysplastic syndromes 

(MDS), and solid tumor cancers. As presented at

the American Society of Hematology meetings 

in 2004 and published in The New England Journal 

of Medicine, preliminary clinical data from a 

Phase II study with one set of MDS patients – 

those with a particular chromosomal abnormality

known as “5q deletion” – appear to be particularly

compelling. (The peer-reviewed article, published 

in The New England Journal of Medicine, February 9,

2005 Issue, reported promising clinical data on 

the median duration of response, had not been

reached.) 

In February 2005, The New England Journal of Medicine published a peer-reviewed article about 

an important study evaluating the clinical potential of our lead experimental compound, REVLIMID®. 

Dr. Alan List, leader of the Hematologic Malignancies Program at the H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center &

Research Institute in Florida, conducted the Phase I/II trial of orally administered REVLIMID which

demonstrated its promise as an innovative way of treating refactory anemia in patients with 

myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS), a form of pre-leukemia.

MDS is a group of serious blood disorders that affect some 300,000 people worldwide.

Approximately 15,000 new cases are 

expected in the United States each year. 

The total number of cases should 

continue to grow as the U.S. population 

and that of many other countries ages, 

since the diseases primarily affect 

people over the age of 60. 

REVLIMID® and MDS
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Celgene already has been granted fast track 

designation for REVLIMID in both MM and MDS by

the Food and Drug Administration, as well as orphan

drug status from both the FDA and the European

Agency for the Evaluation of Medicinal Products. 

On the basis of clinical data from more than 400

patients enrolled in two Phase II studies, as well 

as data from a recently completed Phase I/II 

study (see box), Celgene submitted a New Drug

Application with the FDA in the first quarter of 2005,

and advanced toward our objective of receiving

approval to market the drug for the 5q deletion MDS

indication before the end of the year. At that point,

REVLIMID could begin its journey to deliver on its 

scientific promise, dramatically improving the lives

of many thousands patients and families worldwide.

Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder

(ADHD) can be a debilitating condition

that afflicts children and adults 

alike and can impair their ability to

lead normal, productive lives. ADHD is

one of the most common childhood 

psychiatric disorders and affects an

estimated 7% of children and 4% of

adults. 

As a result of our advanced

expertise in chiral chemistry, Celgene

developed FOCALIN™, an important

medicine for the treatment of ADHD, and licenses both

FOCALIN and FOCALIN-XR to Novartis for worldwide

development and distribution. The newest product in this

family, called FOCALIN-XR, is an extended release version

of our earlier compound FOCALIN. FOCALIN-XR was

shown in a recent pediatric study to

help manage ADHD symptoms for up to

12 hours. As reported at the annual

meeting of the American Academy of

Child and Adolescent Psychiatry in 2004,

this study and two others indicated that

once-daily treatment with FOCALIN-XR

is safe and effective for both children

and adults. Based on these clinical trial

results, Novartis filed a New Drug

Application in July 2004 seeking

approval to distribute FOCALIN-XR. We

believe that many thousands of people will be able to

function more effectively in school or at work if this new,

long-acting version of FOCALIN is approved. The Ritalin®/

FOCALIN franchise continues to capture an increasing

share of the more than $3 billion ADHD market.

Focalin-XR™ and Attention Deficit Disorders

REVLIMID: MDS 5q-

REVLIMID: MDS 5q- (EMEA)

REVLIMID: MDS

REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma

REVLIMID: Ovarian

REVLIMID: NSCLC

REVLIMID: Renal

REVLIMID: Prostate

REVLIMID: Non-Hodgkin’s

Lymphoma

REVLIMID: Pancreatic

REVLIMID: CLL

REVLIMID® Clinical Pipeline

Phase I

Phase II

Phase III

Fil
ing / M

arket

More than 30 clinical trials worldwide are currently evaluating
REVLIMID® for use in treating a wide range of diseases, from
malignant blood disorders to solid tumor cancers.
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Putting patient safety first — 

by adhering to a strict, FDA-approved  

drug delivery system.

Safety

In 1998, when the FDA first approved 

THALOMID®, Celgene, listening to 

the concerns of the FDA and other 

governmental agencies and advocacy 

groups, developed a rigorous program of controls 

to regulate the way in which patients could obtain

access to the drug. Such a program was necessary

because, while THALOMID can bring patients clinical

benefits, it can cause serious adverse side effects 

as well. Our innovative System for Thalidomide

Education and Prescribing Safety, or S.T.E.P.S.®, 

became the first patented, FDA-approved, managed

pharmaceutical delivery program. To date, S.T.E.P.S. 

has made it possible for more than 120,000 patients

with various diseases to receive THALOMID. This 

risk-management distribution system recently has 

been patented in Australia adding to our intellectual

property of U.S. patents for S.T.E.P.S.

The S.T.E.P.S. program was designed to include physician,

pharmacist and patient education. Physicians and

pharmacists must register in the program before they

can prescribe or dispense THALOMID. Since 1998,

15,000 physicians and 23,000 pharmacies have been

registered in S.T.E.P.S., and pharmacists have filled 

close to 700,000 prescriptions for 

THALOMID through the S.T.E.P.S.

program. For patients, the program 

involves mandatory pregnancy testing

and contraception and requires participation in a 

confidential outcome registry managed by an academic

epidemiological research group. No patient is allowed 

to receive the drug without participating in the 

S.T.E.P.S. program.

In 2003, Celgene obtained important additional

patents which encompass the proprietary S.T.E.P.S.

program, adding to the company’s already 

significant intellectual property estate. In an effort

to make this important risk-management program 

for patients available for other drugs, Celgene 

concluded non-exclusive licensing agreements 

in 2004 with manufacturers of isotrentinoin. 

These companies are licensed under our S.T.E.P.S.

patents to develop a risk-management program 

for delivering a drug that has important therapeutic

benefits but also potentially serious side effects. 

The agreements reflect a close working partnership

between the FDA, Celgene and other members 

of our industry to protect the safety of patients.
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Hardy Jones, a 61-year-old producer of wildlife and natural

history films for National Geographic, the Discovery Channel 

and PBS, was diagnosed with a debilitating disease in 2003. 

He was in a great deal of pain and was very weak. Internet

sources, which proved to be out of date, convinced him that 

his prognosis was dire. 

Jones’ doctor, basing his decision on clinical data presented

at major medical meetings and in peer-reviewed journals, 

decided to treat him with THALOMID®. “It was tremendously 

helpful,” says Jones. “The pain virtually went away within 

six weeks, and lab test results were very encouraging.”

Like everyone else who takes THALOMID, Jones participates

in Celgene’s proprietary System for Thalidomide Education and

Prescribing Safety, or S.T.E.P.S.®, which he finds patient-friendly

despite its stringent design. His compliance with the program

requirements is monitored through monthly phone calls he

makes to a toll-free number.

Today, Jones continues to produce films and travel exten-

sively. In 2004 he photographed dolphins in their natural habitat

and visited exotic locations including French Polynesia and 

the Canadian Arctic.
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John Bennett, M.D.

Chairman, Myelodysplastic Syndromes Foundation 

Board of Directors

Professor of Oncology in Medicine, Pathology, and

Laboratory Medicine, University of Rochester

“If we are able to use an oral 

medication such as REVLIMID® to

eliminate or reduce the need for 

red blood cell transfusions in MDS

patients, the quality of life for these

patients will be greatly improved.”

In December 2004, 113 abstracts covering recent

clinical data pertaining to Celgene products 

were presented at the 46th Annual Meeting of 

the American Society of Hematology, one of 

the largest oncology meetings in the world. 

The presentations demonstrated the exceptional

interest in the use of Celgene drugs, 

most notably THALOMID® and REVLIMID®, 

to treat blood cancers.
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Celgene is working to ensure that no patient who can

benefit from THALOMID® therapy will have to go

without it for lack of resources. Through our compre-

hensive Therapy Assistance Program (TAP), we provide

free THALOMID to approximately 15% of patients for

whom the drug is prescribed. This compares with an

industry-wide average of 2-3% of patients who receive

free therapy with a given drug, according to the

Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America. 

Our program is particularly vital because most of the

patients we assist are over 65, the age after which

nearly 80% of all cancers are diagnosed. Many of

these individuals live on fixed incomes and today 

rely on Medicare, which, unlike private insurance, 

does not cover most prescription drugs.

But helping people who could benefit from a Celgene

drug is just part of the story. Because we believe that

all patients with cancer and other serious illnesses

should be able to obtain the medications they need,

we have worked closely with the government, patient

advocacy groups, key health care providers and 

physicians to ensure the widest possible access to 

our pharmaceutical products. 

The passage of the Medicare Modernization Act of

2003 will provide coverage of oral oncology drugs 

for senior citizens beginning January 1, 2006. To help

patients in the near-term, Celgene worked together

with third-party groups on Demonstration Project 641

of the Medicare Reform Act, which began providing

broad coverage for select oral cancer drugs in

September 2004. The Demonstration Project 641 

listed THALOMID in this program. 

On another front, Celgene is currently evaluating

opportunities to create greater access to REVLIMID®

for certain multiple myeloma patients who have

undergone extensive previous treatment. Following

the dramatic interim results from two pivotal 

Phase III trials showing the drug’s effectiveness 

in treating such patients – who had very limited

options for further treatment – Celgene has been

working to set up Expanded Access Programs in 

the U.S. and Europe.

Making therapies available 

to people in need, so that

every patient who can benefit will.

Access

Starting in 2006, Medicare will offer 

prescription drug coverage to all 

43 million of its beneficiaries for the 

first time. At present, Medicare, unlike 

private insurance, does not cover most 

prescription medicines. Anyone eligible for Medicare as 

of November 15, 2005 can enroll in the new program. To

learn more about enrollment and the choices offered under

Medicare’s prescription drug benefit, call 1-800-MEDICARE

or visit www.medicare.gov.
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Dedicated to innovative research and 

development in order to bring 

new therapies to market

Commitment

About 1.2 million new cases of cancer are diagnosed

in the United States every year, and nearly half that

number die annually from cancer-related causes.

Many more suffer from a wide range of inflammatory

diseases and immunological disorders. Celgene 

and its employees are dedicated to uncovering, 

developing and delivering innovative new therapies

that can help people battle these debilitating 

diseases. In addition, we are working closely with a

broad array of health professionals and organizations

– to foster deep, caring relationships with patients,

their families and caregivers.

Ultimately, we envision a world where there are no

diseases without cures. Until then, we hope to help

transform cancer into a disease that can be managed

with minimal effects on patients’ lives – so that

people who are ill can lead relatively normal lives. 

And we hope to develop drugs and cell therapies that

could provide relief to people who suffer from disorders

as varied as rheumatoid arthritis, amyotrophic lateral

sclerosis (Lou Gehrig’s disease), and also sickle cell

anemia – for the treatment of which we recently

announced the filing of an investigational new drug

application with the FDA. Many of these diseases are

now treated with complex protocols that are difficult for

patients to endure – if effective treatments exist at all.

Celgene is so committed to developing therapies that

will satisfy unmet medical needs that we devoted

more than 40% of our total revenue in 2004 to

research and development – more than double the 

industry average of 16%. This investment enables 

us to employ world-class scientists, in multiple

research and discovery programs, who are working

hard to identify promising new drug targets. Our

ongoing drug discovery programs include not only 

our franchise immunomodulatory drugs, or IMiDs®,

but also kinase inhibitors, ligase modulators, 

benzopyrans, tubulin inhibitors and stem cells.

At year-end 2004, Celgene had 19 products in 

our pipeline, including six in clinical development. 

Three of those products – THALOMID®, REVLIMID®

and FOCALIN-XR™ – are expected to receive new 

or expanded marketing approvals during 2005. 
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THALOMID® :

ENL
Multiple Myeloma
MDS 
Prostate 
Inflammatory

ALKERAN: Multiple Myeloma/Ovarian Cancer

Ritalin® /FOCALIN™:

FOCALIN™: ADHD
Ritalin LA: ADHD
FOCALIN XR™: ADHD
FOCALIN: Cancer Fatigue

IMiDs®:

REVLIMID®: Multiple Myeloma (SPA)
REVLIMID: MDS 5Q deletion
REVLIMID: MDS
REVLIMID: Multiple Myeloma
REVLIMID: Solid Tumors and

Hematological Cancers

ACTIMID®: Multiple Myeloma
ACTIMID: Prostate Cancer

CC-11006: Inflammatory/Immunological
CC-10015: Inflammatory

PDE 4 & TNF� Inhibitors:

CC-10004: Asthma
CC-10004: Psoriasis 
CC-11050: Inflammatory

Benzopyrans:

CC-8490: Glioblastoma
CC-227113: Cancer

Kinase Inhibitors:

CC-401: Cancer/Inflammatory
JNK 9359: Ischemia/Reperfusion

Ligase Inhibitors:

E3 Ligase Inhibitor: Cancer

Tubulin Inhibitors:

CC-5079: Cancer

Stem Cells and Tissue Products:

Stem Cell Transplants*:  Cancer
Lifebank™ USA:  Private Stem Cell Banking
Cord Blood Cells:  Sickle Cell Anemia
BIOVANCE™*:  Wound Covering
AMBIO-DRY™*:  Ophthalmology

FDA Filing/Approval
Preclinical Phase I Phase II Phase III and FDA Registered*
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Alan List, M.D.

Professor of Medicine and Program Leader 

Hematologic Malignancies 

H. Lee Moffitt Cancer Center, Tampa, Florida

“REVLIMID® may be the biggest thing

we have ever had for this disease… It

actually changes the bone marrow 

itself and makes it work effectively –

like normal bone marrow. In 20 years 

of working with patients with myelo-

dysplasia, we have never had anything

with this magnitude of benefit.”

IMiDs®, such as REVLIMID, are agents with 

anti-cancer and anti-inflammatory properties. 

Their main mechanism of action is to modify 

cytokines and other growth factors, while 

amplifying an immune response against tumor 

cells. IMIDs have a variety of effects on the bone 

marrow micro-environment, some or all of which 

may be responsible for clinical responses reported in 

peer-reviewed journals and at major medical meetings.
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Developing a rich, deep pipeline 

of novel drugs to tackle 

diseases at their source

Innovation

Celgene is building one of the strongest pipelines 

in the biopharmaceutical industry. It is both deep 

and highly selective in terms of which molecules 

are designated for commercial development. 

While Celgene is involved in cutting-edge research 

in several scientific areas that are delivering 

next-generation therapies, such as cellular 

signaling technology, we pursue those drug 

targets that we believe can have a major 

impact on patients’ lives.

The drugs we develop are designed to treat life-

threatening diseases or chronic debilitating conditions

where patients are poorly served by current therapies. 

Our chief focus is gene-regulating drug targets that

modulate cell proteins produced when people become

ill. Building on our growing knowledge of the biology

behind hematological and solid tumor cancers, we 

are investing in a range of innovative therapeutic 

programs investigating ways to attack the disease

source through multiple mechanisms of action 

and intracellular pathways. 

Next-Generation Therapies for Cancer and 

Chronic Disease

Our portfolio of drugs and drug candidates includes,

first and foremost, our franchise therapies, THALOMID®

and the immunomodulatory drugs, or IMiDs®. These

IMiD compounds are structurally and clinically distinct

from THALOMID and are designed to improve attributes

such as safety and potency while reducing side effects.

We are targeting the IMiD drugs to be used at different

stages of the disease process, in combination with

other drugs or each other, to provide physicians and

patients with a variety of effective tools for long-term

cancer management.

The molecules in the IMiD class comprise a rich pipeline

in their own right, offering great clinical potential for

patients in need and commercial potential for Celgene

and its shareholders. Three of these compounds are

now in human testing: REVLIMID®, ACTIMID™, and

CC-11006. REVLIMID is showing promise in large, 

randomized, controlled Phase III trials relating to

hematological cancers such as multiple myeloma –

and in Phase II accelerated trials for myelodysplastic

syndromes. ACTIMID is one of the most potent IMiDs

and may prove to offer new approaches in a number

of angiogenesis dependent and immunological 

diseases. Currently, ACTIMID is being evaluated in 

Phase II trials in oncology. 

We have identified CC-11006 as an IMiD having the

potential to treat chronic inflammatory diseases.

Many of these diseases are largely untreatable today.

They include ailments such as interstitial pulmonary
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fibrosis and scleroderma, and neurological conditions

such as Lou Gehrig’s disease. CC-11006 entered 

clinical trials in late 2004. 

Celgene has a number of additional IMiDs® in the

pipeline that are being considered for clinical 

development – compounds with different attributes

and exciting clinical potential both in oncology 

and non-oncology applications.

“Best in Class” Drug Discovery Programs

In addition to our IMiD research, Celgene has five

other drug discovery programs that contribute to 

our robust pipeline. The first of these programs is

devoted to our “best-in-class” – or potentially field-

leading – Phosphodiesterase 4 (PDE-4)  and TNF alpha

inhibitors, which provide a novel small molecule, oral

approach to treating chronic inflammatory diseases.

Our lead compound is CC-10004, which reduces the

level of Tumor Necrosis Factor alpha, a critical cytokine

in many serious inflammatory diseases. During 2004,

CC-10004 entered Phase II clinical trials in psoriasis

and exercise-induced asthma. This is part of a strategy

to broadly evaluate this unique oral PDE-4 and TNF

alpha inhibitor in a variety of diseases to select the

most promising indications to pursue. Once again,

this is a compound that could have a profound impact

on the ailments being treated, modulating the disease

rather than merely having a temporary effect on its

symptoms. A second TNF alpha lowering compound,

CC-11050, is being evaluated in ongoing preclinical

studies for inflammatory diseases.

Another best-in-class program showing promise

involves our benzopyran compounds. CC-8490, 

our lead compound in this area, is in Phase I clinical

trials for glioblastoma, a form of brain tumor, with

investigators at the National Cancer Institute. 

CC-8490 is well tolerated in critically ill patients.

Animal studies have demonstrated that the 

compound could also have activity in solid tumors

such as non-small-cell lung cancer and colon cancer. 

A third best-in-class program involves the protein

degradation pathway within the cell, an important

developing field of research. Celgene has conducted

pioneering discovery research in this key cell regulatory

pathway, and is actively developing compounds 

that could well provide the next generation of 

protein degradation inhibitors for use in treating 

cancer. At Celgene Research and Development, 

in San Diego, California, we have focused on a 

large group of drug  targets called ubiquitin ligases,

which selectively affect the destruction of cancer

causing proteins within the cell with great precision,

and could be particularly effective targets for 

treating solid tumors. 

Dominating an Important Research Field

Several of our most important and exciting programs

are part of our kinase inhibitor platform. In many

cases we are “first-in-class” – that is, we are in the

position of dominating an entire field of research 

and its associated intellectual property estate. 

This kinase inhibitor platform includes inhibitors 

of c-Jun N-terminal kinase, or JNK, which has been

associated with a number of key clinical indications.

Our primary JNK inhibitor will be administered 

intravenously to treat acute myelogenous leukemia

(AML). We believe that JNK inhibitors have the 

potential to transform the treatment of a multitude 

of different diseases.

In many of our programs, we work closely with 

the National Cancer Institute (NCI). For instance, 

the NCI has assisted us in our research on tubulin

inhibitors, a well known class of oncology agents, 

orally available, anti-proliferative compounds that

have demonstrated, in preclinical models, activity
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against drug-resistant cancer cells, inhibition 

of inflammatory cytokines and anti-angiogenic 

activity. Celgene granted rights to the development

and commercialization of our tubulin inhibitor 

compounds to EntreMed, Inc. 

Cutting-Edge Research with Non-Controversial 

Stem Cells

One of the most exciting properties of our proprietary

molecules is the powerful impact they appear to 

have on stem cells. At our Cellular Therapeutics 

business division, we have a team devoted to research

on stem cells derived from the human placenta and

umbilical cord – both of which are non-controversial

sources of stem cells. Our studies of placental stem

cells over the past two years have uncovered a variety

of biological activities with great therapeutic promise.

Cell-based therapy offers the possibility of providing

disease-modifying outcomes that could potentially

treat currently incurable diseases.

In hemoglobinopathies such as sickle cell anemia, 

to cite one example, our scientists have shown 

that some of our proprietary molecules can interact

with stem cells and modulate them in such a way 

that they differentiate into erythrocytes, or red 

blood cells. We have also developed a method to 

help generate increased number of stem cells that

will be necessary for treating patients with cancer 

and other indications in the future. 

The research we are conducting today could 

provide another critical advantage for Celgene, 

which is operating in a virtually untapped market

niche. Some biopharmaceutical companies are 

working either on developing stem cell therapies, 

or on small molecule-based therapies; we are 

in a unique position that allows us to study and 

develop both gene-regulating small molecule 

drugs and stem cell therapies.

LifebankUSA, one of three commercial 

business units within our Cellular

Therapeutics division, helps families plan 

for a healthy future. To date, more than 

80 diseases and conditions have been 

treated with stem cell transplants. In 2004

alone, the number of parents, in the U.S.,

who banked their children’s cord blood 

is estimated to have increased by 80%.
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Building a highly profitable 

global biopharmaceutical company

Sustainable Growth

In 2004, our second year as a profitable company, 

we generated $377.5 million in revenue and 

$52.7 million in net income. We made substantial

progress with these achievements recording such

exceptional results while also:

• maintaining a high level of investment in research 

and drug development with more than 40% of our 

total revenue being invested in the R&D that is 

essential to our future

• keeping our core pipeline unencumbered, by retaining

full rights to our key proprietary products 

• supporting therapy assistance programs for 

patients in need by providing THALOMID® at no 

cost to approximately 15% of patients for whom 

the drug is prescribed

• expanding patient access to the clinical benefits 

of our drugs through our S.T.E.P.S.® program — 

the first patented, FDA-approved, managed 

pharmaceutical delivery program.

More Than 800 Patents Worldwide

In order to produce sustainable growth, a 

biopharmaceutical company must have a solid 

intellectual property estate. Celgene holds more 

than 800 issued and pending patents worldwide, 

covering a wide variety of discovery and regulatory 

programs. In the kinase inhibitor area, we hold or own

a substantial portion of the patents. Moreover, we are

building a leading intellectual property estate in the

emerging field of ubiquitin ligase-biogenetic activities

and ubiquitin-mediated protein turnover – an area

that includes no less than 22 proprietary ligase 

targets. We believe that our sizeable patent estate

gives us an important global competitive advantage 

as we continue to develop and commercialize our 

small molecule and stem cell therapy pipeline.

Multiple Income Streams Fueling Growth

THALOMID is the product that currently drives 

the growth of our company, and continues to 

receive wide attention from the clinical and medical

communities. The expanding volume of clinical data

on THALOMID presented at major medical meetings,

and the growing body of articles about it in peer-

reviewed publications, is a result of the many clinical

trials supported by Celgene.

In addition, Celgene has another significant

and reliable source of income to fund continued

growth. Under an agreement with Novartis, 

our company receives substantial royalty payments

from the Ritalin® family line of products, including 

payments from product sales of FOCALIN™. All of 

these sales contributed $38.6 million to our revenue

base in 2004. In 2005, this partnership is expected 

to generate even higher revenue, in the range 

of $60 million. 

In the future, we anticipate that several 

compounds in our pipeline, beginning with 

REVLIMID®, will come on the global market and 

develop significant demand. REVLIMID alone has 

the potential to change the standard of care for 

certain cancer patients in need, and to transform

Celgene into an increasingly profitable global 

biopharmaceutical company.



2 0 0 4  A n n u a l  R e p o r t 21

In late 2004, Celgene moved to a new world headquarters 

in Summit, New Jersey (above), consolidating human 

and other resources at one site. 

Celgene UK, acquired in 2004, 

has manufacturing capabilities

that enable Celgene to significantly

increase its share of THALOMID’S 

potentially growing international revenue.

Established in 2004, Celgene 

International, in Switzerland, 

positions our company to capitalize on 

international commercial opportunities.

Celgene Research and Development, in San Diego

(below), is the home of many of the company’s cutting

edge research and discovery programs.
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Board of Directors

John W. Jackson
Has been our Chairman of the Board 

and Chief Executive Officer since January

1996 and is a member of the Executive

Committee of our Board of Directors.

From February 1991 to January 1996, 

Mr. Jackson was President of Gemini

Medical, a consulting firm that he 

founded which focused on medical

device company strategy and investment

advice. Previously, Mr. Jackson had been

President of the worldwide Medical

Device Division of American Cyanamid

from February 1986 to January 1991, and

served in various international positions,

including Vice President - International

for American Cyanamid from 1978 

to 1986. Mr. Jackson served in several

human healthcare marketing positions 

at Merck & Company, a major pharma-

ceutical company, from 1971 to 1978. He

serves on the Pharmaceutical Research

and Manufacturers of America (PhRMA)

Board of Directors, the Yale Development

Board, and the U.S. INSEAD Council.

Mr. Jackson received a B.A. degree 

from Yale University and an M.B.A. 

from INSEAD, France. 

Sol J. Barer, Ph.D.
Has been our President since October

1993 and our Chief Operating Officer and 

one of our directors since March 1994

and is a member of the Executive

Committee of our Board of Directors. 

Dr. Barer was Senior Vice President -

Science and Technology and Vice

President/General Manager - Chiral

Products from October 1990 to October

1993 and our Vice President - Technology

from September 1987 to October 1990.

Dr. Barer received a Ph.D. in organic 

and physical chemistry from Rutgers

University. Dr. Barer is also a director 

of Nobex, Inc. and Semorex, Inc. and

serves on the New Jersey Commission 

of Science and Technology.

Robert J. Hugin
Has been our Senior Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer since June 

1999 and was elected by the Board of

Directors to serve as one of our directors

in December 2001. Previously, Mr. Hugin

had been a Managing Director at J.P.

Morgan & Co. Inc., which he joined in

1985. Mr. Hugin received an A.B. degree

from Princeton University and an 

M.B.A. from the University of Virginia. 

Mr. Hugin is also a Director of the

Medicines Company.

Arthur Hull Hayes, Jr., M.D.
One of our directors since 1995 and a

member of the Audit Committee of our

Board of Directors, has been President

and Chief Operating Officer of

MediScience Associates, a consulting

organization that works with pharma-

ceutical firms, biomedical companies 

and foreign governments, since July

1991, and clinical professor of medicine

and pharmacology at the Pennsylvania

State University College of Medicine,

from 1981 to 2004. From 1986 to 1990,

Dr. Hayes was President and Chief

Executive Officer of E.M. Pharmaceuticals,

a unit of E. Merck AG, and from 1981 to

1983 was Commissioner of the U. S. 

Food and Drug Administration. Dr. Hayes

also is a director of Myriad Genetics, Inc.

and Tapestry Inc. 

Gilla Kaplan, Ph.D.
One of our directors since April 1998 

and a member of the Audit Committee 

of our Board of Directors, is head of the

Laboratory of Mycobacterial Immunity

and Pathogenesis at The Public Health

Research Institute at the International

Center for Public Health in Newark, New

Jersey, where she was appointed full

Member in 2002. Dr. Kaplan has also

been appointed Professor of Medicine

and Professor of Microbiology and

Molecular Genetics at University of

Left to right: John W. Jackson, Sol J. Barer, Ph.D., Robert J. Hugin, Arthur Hull Hayes, Jr., M.D., Gilla Kaplan, Ph.D.



Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey.

Previously, Dr. Kaplan was an immun-

ologist in the Laboratory at Cellular

Physiology and Immunology at The

Rockefeller University in New York 

where she was an Associate Professor.

Frank T. Cary
Has been Chairman of the Executive

Committee of our Board of Directors

since July 1990 and one of our Directors

since 1987, and is a member of the

Nominating and Governance Committee

of our Board of Directors and a member

of the Management Compensation and

Development Committee. From 1973 

to 1981, Mr. Cary was Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of

International Business Machines

Corporation. Mr. Cary also is a director 

of Cygnus Therapeutic Systems Inc., 

ICOS Corporation, Lincare Inc., 

Lexmark International Inc. and 

Vion Pharmaceuticals Inc.

Walter L. Robb, Ph.D.
One of our directors since 1992 and the

Chairman of the Audit Committee of our

Board of Directors, has been a private

consultant and President of Vantage

Management Inc., a consulting and

investor services company, since January

1993. Dr. Robb was Senior Vice President

for Corporate Research and Development

of General Electric Company, and a 

member of its Corporate Executive

Council from 1986 to December 1992. 

Dr. Robb is Chairman of the Board of

Directors of Capital District Sports. He is

also a director of Mechanical Technology, 

Inc. and several private companies.

Jack L. Bowman
Has been one of our directors since 

April 1998, and is the Chairman of the

Nominating and Governance Committee

of our Board of Directors and a member

of the Management Compensation and

Development Committee. Mr. Bowman

served as Company Group Chairman 

of Johnson & Johnson from 1987 to

1994. From 1983 to 1987, Mr. Bowman

served as Executive Vice President of

American Cyanamid. Mr. Bowman is 

also a director of Targeted Genetics 

and AVI BioPharma, Inc.

Richard C.E. Morgan
Has been one of our directors since 1987,

and is Chairman of the Management

Compensation and Development

Committee and a member of the

Executive Committee of our Board of

Directors. Mr. Morgan is the Chairman

and Chief Executive Officer of Amphion

Capital Partners LLC and a Managing

Partner of Amphion Capital Management

LLC. Mr. Morgan serves on the Board of

Directors of Axcess Inc. and Orbis

International, Inc. and several other 

private companies.

Michael D. Casey
Has served as one of our directors 

since August 2002 and is a member 

of the Nominating and Governance

Committee and the Audit Committee 

of our Board of Directors. From October

1997 to February 2002, Mr. Casey served

as the Chairman, President, Chief

Executive Officer and a director of Matrix

Pharmaceutical, Inc. From November

1995 to December 1996, Mr. Casey was

Executive Vice President and Schein

Pharmaceutical, Inc. In December 1996,

he was appointed President of the retail

and specialty products division of Schein.

From June 1993 to November 1995, he

served as President and Chief Operating

Officer of Genetic Therapy, Inc. Mr. Casey

was President of McNeil Pharmaceutical

(a unit of Johnson & Johnson) from 1989

to June 1993 and Vice President, Sales

and Marketing for Othro Pharmaceutical

Corp. (a subsidiary of Johnson & Johnson)

from 1985 to 1989.  Mr. Casey is also a

director of Bone Care International, Inc.,

Allos Therapeutics, Inc., Cholestech

Corporation, OrthoLogic Corp. and 

Durect Corp. 

Left to right: Frank T. Cary, Walter L. Robb, Ph.D., Jack L. Bowman, Richard C.E. Morgan, Michael D. Casey
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Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following Selected Consolidated Financial Data should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related

Notes thereto, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and other financial information

included elsewhere in this Annual Report. The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year

ended December 31, 2004 and the Consolidated Balance Sheet data as of December 31, 2004 are derived from our Consolidated Financial

Statements which have been audited by KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, and which are included elsewhere in this

Annual Report and are qualified by reference to such Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto. The data set forth below

with respect to our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the Consolidated Balance

Sheets data as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 have been restated to reflect adjustments to the original filings that are discussed further 

in Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report and are qualified by reference to such Consolidated Financial

Statements and related Notes thereto. The data set forth below with respect to our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years

ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the Consolidated Balance Sheets data as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 are derived from our

Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been audited by KPMG LLP and which are not included elsewhere in this Annual Report. 

Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results of operations. 

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 As restated As restated 2001 2000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Total revenue $377,502 $271,475 $135,746 $114,243 $(84,908

Costs and operating expenses 334,774 274,124 250,367 139,186 119,217

Other income (expense), net 20,443 28,310 23,031 20,807 15,496

Income tax provision (benefit) 10,415 718 (98) (1,232) (1,810)

Income (loss) from continuing operations 52,756 24,943 (91,492) (2,904) (17,003)

Discontinued operations:

Gain on sale of chiral assets — 750 1,000 992 719

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders $052,756 $025,693 $(90,492) $0(1,912) $(16,284)

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share(1):

Basic $0000.32 $0000.15 $00(0.60) $00(0.02) $00(0.13)

Diluted 0$0000.31 $0000.14 0$00(0.60) $00(0.02) 0$00(0.13)

Discontinued operations per common share(1):

Basic $00 00.— $0000.01 $0000.01 $0000.01 $00(0.01

Diluted $0 000.— $0000.01 $0000.01 $0000.01 $00(0.01

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders(1):

Basic $0000.32 $0000.16 $00(0.59) $00(0.01) $00(0.12)

Diluted $0000.31 $0000.15 $00(0.59) $00(0.01) $00(0.12)

Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding (1):

Basic 163,869 161,774 154,674 150,216 133,196

Diluted 172,855 170,796 154,674 150,216 133,196

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS DATA

Cash and cash equivalents, and marketable securities $748,537 $666,967 $261,182 $310,041 $306,162

Total assets 1,107,293 813,026 336,795 353,982 346,726

Long-term obligations under capital leases

and equipment notes payable 4 16 40 46 633

Convertible notes 400,000 400,000 — 11,714 11,714

Accumulated deficit (234,410) (287,166) (312,859) (222,367) (220,455)

Stockholders’ equity 477,444 331,744 281,814 310,425 295,533

(1) Amounts have been adjusted for the two-for-one stock split affected in October 2004 and the three-for-one stock split affected in April 2000.
25
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction 

We are a multi-national integrated biopharmaceutical 

company primarily engaged in the discovery, development and

commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat

cancer and immune-inflammatory related diseases. Our lead

product THALOMID® (thalidomide) is currently marketed for

the treatment of erythema nodosum leprosum, or ENL. This

product is more widely used off-label for treating multiple

myeloma and other cancers. Over the past several years,

THALOMID® net sales have grown rapidly. The sales growth of

THALOMID® has enabled us to make substantial investments

in research and development, which has resulted in a broad

portfolio of drug candidates in our product pipeline. These

include a pipeline of THALOMID® analogs known as IMiDsTM.

REVLIMID®, one of our clinical-stage IMiDs, is now being tested

in multiple cancer trials, including ongoing pivotal Phase III

Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA, trials in multiple myeloma,

or MM, and Phase II trials in myelodysplastic syndromes, or

MDS, MDS with 5q deletion chromosomal abnormalities and

MM that have the potential to result in FDA approval in late

2005 or early 2006. Given REVLIMID®’s safety and efficacy 

profile, its large sales potential and the cost efficiencies we can

achieve from marketing REVLIMID® through our established

sales force, we anticipate the approval and launch of REVLIMID®,

if it occurs, would result in increased revenue and earnings. 

We believe that the sales growth of THALOMID®, the growth

potential for REVLIMID®, the depth of our product pipeline, 

and our strong balance sheet position, make us competitive

within the biopharmaceuticals sector. 

Restatement

Following a review in December 2004 of our accounting

treatment for the convertible preferred shares and warrants 

we received in connection with the December 31, 2002 

litigation settlement and related agreements with EntreMed,

Inc. and the Children’s Medical Center Corporation, or CMCC,

where in return for approximately $26.8 million in cash we

acquired all related EntreMed thalidomide analog patents, 

terminated the litigation and received preferred shares 

convertible into 16,750,000 shares of EntreMed common 

stock and warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed

common stock, it was determined that an adjustment to 

our consolidated financial statements was required for 

the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. For more 

information about the litigation settlement with EntreMed Inc.

and related agreements see Note 5 to our consolidated 

financial statements. 

At December 31, 2002, based on what we believed was the

appropriate accounting treatment under generally accepted

accounting principles, we wrote off the entire $26.8 million

relating to the convertible preferred shares, the warrants and

the litigation settlement and did not recognize any gains or

losses on the warrants during 2003. This accounting treatment

was based on multiple reasons including: (1) EntreMed’s financial

condition and its continuing losses; (2) the fact that we included

the warrants along with the convertible preferred shares

investment in applying the equity method of accounting,

under which we wrote off the entire investment in December

2002; and (3) our concern over the fair value of the warrants

given the significant number of shares underlying the warrants

and, our concern about the inability to convert the underlying

shares into cash (even if the warrants were to be net share

settled) without significantly affecting EntreMed’s stock price. 

Upon further review of the warrant terms, as well as the

accounting treatment prescribed under SFAS No. 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”,

or SFAS 133, and related Derivative Implementation Group, or

DIG, interpretations, we have concluded that the warrants

should be accounted for as a derivative instrument and carried

on the balance sheet at fair value, with changes in fair value

recorded through earnings. 

In addition we reviewed the impairment of the investment

in the EntreMed voting preferred shares. We have concluded

that the investment should not have been fully written down

as of the date of the transaction. Accordingly we have restored

the investment of $4.4 million as of December 31, 2002 and

reduced the net loss by a like amount. Under the equity

method of accounting, we have recorded our share of the

EntreMed losses in 2003 until the investment was written

down to zero in the third quarter of 2003. 

We have now restated our consolidated financial statements.

The cumulative effect of the restatement through December

31, 2003 is an increase in other assets of $21.7 million and a

decrease in accumulated deficit of $21.7 million. Equity losses

in associated companies of $4.4 million were recorded for the

year ended December 31, 2003. Interest and other income

increased by $16.6 million for the year ended December 31,

2003 and litigation settlement and related agreements

expense decreased by $9.5 million for the year ended

December 31, 2002. Previously reported diluted net earnings

per share increased by $0.07 and $0.06 for the years ended

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The restatement

did not have any impact on previously reported total revenues,

2003 reported net cash flows or 2003 operating loss. 

The following is a summary of the impact of the restate-

ment on (i) our Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31,

2003 and (ii) our Consolidated Statements of Operations for

the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. In 2002 net

cash provided by operating activities improved by $9.5 million

and net cash provided by investing activities decreased by $9.5

million. The 2003 operating and investing cash flows were not

impacted. 
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(in thousands, Previously Adjust- As 
except per share data) Reported ments Restated

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Interest and other income $21,795 $16,574 $38,369

Equity losses in associated 

companies — 4,392 4,392

Income before income taxes 13,479 12,182 25,661

Income from continuing 

operations 12,761 12,182 24,943

Net income 13,511 12,182 25,693

Per share:

Income from continuing 

operations per - Basic 0.08 0.07 0.15

Income from continuing 

operations per - Diluted 0.07 0.07 0.14

Net income - Basic 0.08 0.08 0.16

Net income - Diluted 0.08 0.07 0.15

Consolidated Balance Sheet:

Other assets $32,506 $21,690 $54,196

Total assets 791,336 21,690 813,026

Accumulated deficit (308,856) 21,690 (287,166)

Total stockholders’ equity 310,054 21,690 331,744

Year ended December 31, 2002:

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Litigation settlement and 

related agreements $32,212 $(9,508) $22,704

Total expenses 259,875 (9,508) 250,367

Operating loss (124,129) 9,508 (114,621)

Loss before income taxes (101,098) 9,508 (91,590)

Loss from continuing 

operations (101,000) 9,508 (91,492)

Net loss (100,000) 9,508 (90,492)

Per share:

Loss from continuing 

operations - Basic (0.65) 0.05 (0.60)

Loss from continuing 

operations - Diluted (0.65) 0.05 (0.60)

Net loss - Basic (0.65) 0.06 (0.59)

Net loss - Diluted (0.65) 0.06 (0.59)

Refer to Note 20 to our consolidated financial statements

(unaudited) of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements for the impact of the restatement on the 2004 

and 2003 quarterly information. In addition, certain prior 

year amounts in Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 9, 17, 19 and 20 to our 

consolidated financial statements have been restated to 

reflect the restatement adjustments described above. 

Factors Affecting Future Results 

Future operating results will depend on many factors,

including demand for our products, regulatory approvals of our

products, the timing and market acceptance of new products

launched by us or competing companies, the timing of research

and development milestones, challenges to our intellectual

property and our ability to control costs. The most salient

factors are, in the near term, competition with THALOMID®,

including generic competition, and delays in the introduction

of REVLIMID® and, in the longer term, failure to commercialize

our early-stage drug candidates. 

Near-Term Competition With THALOMID®: While we believe

that THALOMID® will continue to be used as a treatment in

multiple myeloma and that competing products will not

eliminate its use, it is possible that competition could reduce

THALOMID® sales in multiple myeloma. In addition, generic

competition could reduce THALOMID® sales. However, we own

intellectual property which includes, for example, numerous

U.S. patents covering restrictive drug distribution systems for

more safely delivering drugs, including our “System for

Thalidomide Education and Prescribing Safety”, or S.T.E.P.S.®,

distribution program, which all patients receiving thalidomide

in the United States must follow and which are listed in the

FDA Approved Drug Products with Therapeutic Equivalence

Evaluation, or Orange Book. These patents do not expire until

the years 2018-2020. We also have exclusive rights to several

issued patents covering the use of THALOMID® in oncology.

Even if generic competition were able to enter the market, it

is unlikely such products could do so before 2007 based on a

number of factors, including the time needed to commercialize

such a product and the fact that challenges to THALOMID® will

require a generic competitor to make a patent certification of

non-infringement and/or invalidity of our patents listed in the

Orange Book pursuant to the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic

Act, which would then, in turn, entitle us up to a 30-month

stay of market approval of that generic equivalent. By that

time, we plan to have at least partially replaced THALOMID®

sales with REVLIMID® sales. On October 22, 2004, we received

an approvable letter from the FDA relating to our THALOMID®

multiple myeloma supplemental new drug application, or

sNDA. The FDA letter stated that sufficient support for an

accelerated approval could be provided by the results of the

completed Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group, or ECOG,

study comparing thalidomide plus dexamethasone to 

dexamethasone alone in previously untreated multiple 

myeloma patients. The submission of this additional data and

completion of required responses and its review by the FDA

may result in an accelerated approval of THALOMID® as a 

treatment for multiple myeloma in the second half of 2005. 

Delay In The Introduction Of REVLIMID®: While we have

made progress toward regulatory approval of REVLIMID® based

on ongoing pivotal Phase III Special Protocol Assessment, or

SPA, trials for REVLIMID® in multiple myeloma, a delay in the

introduction of REVLIMID® or its failure to demonstrate efficacy
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or an acceptable safety profile could adversely affect our business,

consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

Moreover, other factors such as the availability of FDA-approved

competing products for the treatment of MDS could impact

the market’s acceptance of REVLIMID®. In addition, our ongoing

open label Phase II trials in MDS and multiple myeloma have

completed their targeted enrollment. The submission of our

rolling NDA based on data from our Phase II MDS-5q deletion

trial has been completed and resulted in an earlier regulatory

approval if the data were to be sufficiently compelling, it

should be noted that the FDA does not often grant approvals

based on Phase II open label data alone. 

Failure To Commercialize Early-Stage Drug Candidates: Our 

long-term success and sustainability depends on our ability 

to advance our earlier-stage drug candidates through 

development and to realize the commercial potential of 

our broad product pipeline. 

Company Background 

In 1986, we were spun off from Celanese Corporation and 

in July 1987 we completed an initial public offering of our 

common stock. Initially, our operations involved research 

and development of chemical and biotreatment processes 

for the chemical and pharmaceutical industries. In 1994, we

discontinued the biotreatment operations to focus on our 

programs for developing small molecule compounds for 

cancer and immunology indications, and on our biocatalytic

chiral chemistry program. 

Between 1990 and 1998, our revenues were derived primarily

from the development and supply of chirally pure intermediates

to pharmaceutical companies for use in new drug development.

By 1998, sales of chirally pure intermediates became a less

integral part of our strategic focus and, in January 1998 we

sold the chiral intermediates business to Cambrex Corporation.

Revenue from license agreements and milestone payments

related to our cancer and immunology programs began to

increase at this time. 

In July 1998, we received approval from the FDA to market

THALOMID® for use in ENL, a complication of the treatment of

leprosy, and, in September 1998 we commenced sales of

THALOMID® in the United States. Sales of THALOMID® have

grown significantly each year, and THALOMID® has become 

our lead product. In 2002, 2003 and 2004 we recorded net

THALOMID® sales of $119.1 million, $223.7 million and 

$308.6 million, respectively. 

In February 2000, we completed a follow-on public offering

in which we raised proceeds, net of offering expenses, of

approximately $278.0 million. In April 2000, we signed a 

licensing and development agreement with Novartis Pharma

AG in which we granted to Novartis a license for FOCALIN®, our

chirally pure version of RITALIN®. The agreement provided for

significant upfront and milestone payments to us based on the

achievement of various stages in the regulatory approval

process. It also provided for Celgene to receive royalties on the

entire family of RITALIN® products. Pursuant to the agreement

we retained the rights to FOCALIN® in oncology indications. 

In August 2000, we acquired Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 

a privately held biopharmaceutical company focused on the

discovery and development of drugs that regulate genes 

associated with disease. In December 2002, we acquired

Anthrogenesis Corp., a privately held biotherapeutics company

developing processes for the recovery of stem cells from human

placental tissue following the completion of a successful full-

term pregnancy for use in stem cell transplantation, regenerative

medicine and biomaterials for organ and wound repair. 

In March 2003, we entered into a three-year supply and 

distribution agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, to 

distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN®, or melphalan, a therapy

approved by the FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple

myeloma and carcinoma of the ovary. The agreement, which

provides us with an FDA approved oncology product, requires

that we purchase ALKERAN® from GSK and distribute the 

products in the United States under the Celgene label. In June

2003, we raised an additional $387.8 million, net of expenses,

through the issuance of $400.0 million of five-year unsecured

convertible notes. 

In October 2004, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,

we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Penn T Limited, 

or Penn T, a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®, from a 

consortium of private investors for a US dollar equivalency of

approximately $117.4 million in cash, net of cash acquired and

including working capital adjustments and total estimated

transaction costs. Through manufacturing contracts acquired in

this acquisition, we are now able to control manufacturing for

THALOMID® worldwide and we also increased our participation

in the potential sales growth of THALOMID® in key international

markets. Following this acquisition, in December 2004 we

revised the Pharmion product supply agreement acquired in

the Penn T acquisition. Under the modified agreement,

Pharmion paid us a one-time payment of $77.0 million in

return for a reduction in their total product supply purchase

price from 28.0 percent of Pharmion’s thalidomide net sales,

including cost of goods to 15.5 percent of net sales. The 

collaboration also entails Pharmion paying us an additional

$8.0 million over the next three years to extend the two 

companies’ existing thalidomide research and development

efforts and a one-time payment of $3.0 million for granting

Pharmion license rights to develop and market thalidomide 

in three additional Asian territories (Hong Kong, Korea and

Taiwan), as well as for eliminating termination rights held by

Celgene tied to the regulatory approval of thalidomide in

Europe in November 2006. In late 2004, we entered into an

agreement providing manufacturers of isotretinoin (Acutane®)

a non-exclusive license to our System for Thalidomide
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Education and Prescribing Safety, or S.T.E.P.S., patent portfolio.

The manufacturers of isotretinoin have licensed these patents

with the intention of implementing a new pregnancy risk 

management system to safely deliver isotretinoin in potentially

high-risk patient populations. 

Until 2003, we had sustained losses in each year since our

incorporation in 1986. For the years ended December 31, 2003

and 2004, we posted net income of $25.7 million and $52.8

million, respectively, and at December 31, 2004 we had an

accumulated deficit of $234.4 million. Since our inception, we

have financed our working capital requirements primarily

through product sales; public and private sales of our equity

securities and debt; income earned from investment of the

proceeds of such securities sales; and revenues from research

contracts and license payments. We expect to make substantial

additional expenditures to further develop and commercialize

our products. We expect that our rate of spending will accelerate

as a result of increases in clinical trial costs, expenses associated

with regulatory approval and expenses related to commercialization

of products currently in development. However, we anticipate

these expenditures to be more than offset by increased product

sales, royalties, revenues from various research collaborations

and license agreements with other pharmaceutical and 

biopharmaceutical companies, and investment income. 

Results of Operations — 

Fiscal Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 

Total Revenue: Total revenue and related percentages for the

years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, were as follows:

% Change

2003 2002
to to

(In thousands $) 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003

Net product sales:

THALOMID® $308,577 $223,686 $119,060 38.0% 87.9%

FOCALIN® 4,177 2,383 3,861 75.3% (38.3%)

ALKERAN® 16,956 17,827 — (4.9%) N/A

Other 861 557 — 54.6% N/A

Total net product

sales $330,571 $244,453 $122,921 35.2% 98.9%

Collaborative 

agreements

and other 

revenue 20,012 15,174 8,115 31.9% 87.0%

Royalty revenue 26,919 11,848 4,710 127.2% 151.5%

Total revenue $377,502 $271,475 $135,746 39.1% 100.0%

Net Product Sales: 2004 Compared to 2003: THALOMID® net

sales were higher in 2004, as compared to 2003, primarily due to

price increases implemented in the second half of 2003 and in

the first nine months of 2004. The total number of prescriptions,

which increased approximately 9.4% from the prior year period,

was offset by lower average daily doses. FOCALIN® net sales

were higher in 2004, as compared to 2003, due to the timing 

of shipments to Novartis for their commercial distribution.

ALKERAN® net sales were lower in 2004, as compared to 2003,

due to supply disruptions earlier in the year, which lead to

inconsistent supplies of ALKERAN® IV and consequently 

inconsistent end-market buying patterns. Other net product

sales consist of sales of dehydrated human amniotic membrane

for use in ophthalmic applications, which are generated

through our Stem Cell Therapies segment following the

December 2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. 

2003 Compared to 2002: THALOMID® net sales were higher

in 2003, as compared to 2002, due to the combination of price

increases and oncologists’ expanded use of the product as a

treatment for various types of cancers, especially first-line use

in multiple myeloma. THALOMID® net sales in 2003 also 

benefited from the market introduction, during the first half 

of the year, of two new higher-strength formulations, which

had higher per unit sales prices. FOCALIN® net sales were lower

in 2003, as compared to 2002, due to the timing of shipments

to Novartis for their commercial distribution. The ALKERAN®

supply and distribution agreement with GSK was executed 

in March 2003. Accordingly, sales for this product are reflected

only in the 2003 period. Other net product sales consist of

sales of dehydrated human amniotic membrane for use in 

ophthalmic applications, which are generated through our

Stem Cell Therapies segment. 

Collaborative agreements and other revenue: Revenues from

collaborative agreements and other sources in 2004 included 

a $7.5 million payment received from Novartis related to their

FOCALIN® XR NDA submission; approximately $7.5 million

related to the Pharmion collaboration agreements, primarily

thalidomide research and development funding and S.T.E.P.S.

licensing fees; approximately $3.7 million of umbilical cord

blood enrollment, collection and storage fees generated

through our Stem Cell Therapies segment; $0.5 million from

S.T.E.P.S. use licensing fees; and approximately $0.8 million

from other miscellaneous research and development and

licensing agreements. The 2003 period included approximately

$6.0 million related to the agreement to terminate the

GelclairTM co-promotion agreement between OSI

Pharmaceuticals Inc. and Celgene; approximately $4.3 million

of thalidomide research and development funding and S.T.E.P.S.

licensing fees received in connection with the Pharmion 

collaboration agreements; approximately $1.3 million of 

reimbursements from Novartis for shipments of bulk raw

material used in the formulation of FOCALIN® XR and utilized
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in clinical studies conducted by Novartis; approximately $2.9

million of umbilical cord blood enrollment, collection and storage

fees generated through our Stem Cell Therapies segment; and

$0.7 million from other miscellaneous research and development

and licensing agreements. The 2002 period included approxi-

mately $4.9 million for amortization of an up-front payment

and a $1.0 million milestone payment received from Novartis

Pharma AG in connection with the SERM license agreement;

$1.2 million of licensing fees from Pharmion; and $1.0 million

of other milestone and other miscellaneous payments. 

Royalty revenue: Royalty revenue reflects royalties received

from Novartis on sales of their entire family of RITALIN® drugs.

The increases in royalty revenue were due to increases in the

royalty rate on both RITALIN® and RITALIN® LA as well as

increases in RITALIN® LA sales by Novartis. 

Cost of Goods Sold: Cost of goods sold and related percentages

for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were

as follows: 

(In thousands $) 2004 2003 2002

Cost of goods sold $59,726 $52,950 $20,867

Increase from prior year $06,776 $32,083 $01,885

Percentage increase 

from prior year 12.8% 153.7% 9.9%

Percentage of net

product sales 18.1% 21.7% 17.0%

2004 compared to 2003: Cost of goods sold increased in

2004 from 2003, primarily as a result of higher royalties on

THALOMID®, partially offset by lower ALKERAN® costs. As a

percentage of net product sales, however, cost of goods sold

decreased primarily due to lower ALKERAN® costs. Profit margins

on THALOMID® remained flat, as the increase in cost of goods

sold (resulting from higher royalties) were offset by higher net

sales (which were due to price increases implemented in the

second half of 2003 and in the first nine months of 2004). 

2003 compared to 2002: Cost of goods sold increased in

2003 from 2002, primarily due to significant growth in THALOMID®

sales volumes, higher royalties on THALOMID® product sales

and the introduction of ALKERAN®. Cost of goods sold also

increased as a percentage of net product sales primarily because

of the introduction of ALKERAN®, which has a significantly

higher cost structure than THALOMID®. The increase in the 

percentage, however, was partially offset by higher gross 

profits on THALOMID® (due to price increases initiated during

the year) and by lower sales of FOCALIN® (which also has a

higher reported cost structure than THALOMID®). 

Research and Development: Research and development

expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, contractor

fees (paid principally to contract research organizations to

assist in our clinical development programs), costs of drug 

supplies for our clinical and preclinical programs, costs of other

consumable research supplies, regulatory and quality 

expenditures and allocated facilities charges such as building

rent and utilities. 

Research and development expenses and related 

percentages for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 

and 2002 were as follows: 

(In thousands $) 2004 2003 2002

Research and development

expenses $160,852 $122,700 $84,924

Increase from prior year $038,152 $037,776 $17,271

Percentage increase from 

prior year 31.1% 44.5% 25.5%

Percentage of total revenue 42.6% 45.2% 62.6%

2004 compared to 2003: Research and development

expenses increased by $38.2 million in 2004 from 2003, 

primarily due to increased spending in various late-stage 

regulatory programs. These included Phase II regulatory 

programs for REVLIMID® in MDS and MM, as well as ongoing

REVLIMID® Phase III SPA trials in MM. 

2003 compared to 2002: Research and development

expenses increased in 2003 from 2002, primarily due to the 

initiation of several large studies related to our THALOMID®

and REVLIMID® clinical programs in the second half of 2002. 

Research and development expenses in 2004 consisted of

approximately $78.3 million spent on human pharmaceutical

clinical programs; $33.4 million spent on other human phar-

maceutical programs, including toxicology, analytical research

and development, drug discovery, quality and regulatory

affairs; $40.6 million spent on biopharmaceutical discovery and

development programs; and $8.6 million spent on placental stem

cell and biomaterials programs. These expenditures support

multiple core programs, including THALOMID®, REVLIMID®,

ACTIMIDTM, CC-11006, PDE4/TNF-alpha inhibitors, other 

investigational compounds, such as kinase inhibitors, benzopyrans,

ligase inhibitors and tubulin inhibitors, and placental and cord

blood derived stem cell programs. In 2003, approximately $52.8

million was spent on human pharmaceutical clinical programs;

$29.2 million was spent on other human pharmaceutical programs,

including toxicology, analytical research and development,

drug discovery, quality and regulatory affairs; $33.7 million was

spent on biopharmaceutical discovery and development programs;

and $7.0 million was spent on placental stem cell and bio-

materials programs. In 2002, approximately $27.4 million 

was spent on human pharmaceutical clinical programs; $22.2

million was spent on other human pharmaceutical programs,

including toxicology, analytical research and development,

drug discovery, quality and regulatory affairs; $32.3 million was

spent on biopharmaceutical discovery and development programs;

and $3.0 million was spent on agro-chemical programs. 
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For information about the commercial and development

status and target diseases of our drug compounds, refer to 

the product overview table contained in Part I, Item I of this

annual report. 

In general, the estimated times to completion within the

various stages of clinical development are as follows: 

Clinical Phase Estimated Completion Time

Phase I 1-2 years

Phase II 2-3 years

Phase III 2-3 years

Due to the significant risks and uncertainties inherent in

preclinical testing and clinical trials associated with each of 

our research and development projects, the cost to complete

such projects is not reasonably estimable. The data obtained

from these tests and trials may be susceptible to varying 

interpretation that could delay, limit or prevent a project’s

advancement through the various stages of clinical 

development, which would significantly impact the costs

incurred in completing a project. 

Selling, General and Administrative: Selling expenses consist

primarily of salaries and benefits for sales and marketing and

customer service personnel and other commercial expenses to

support our sales force. General and administrative expenses

consist primarily of salaries and benefits, outside services 

for legal, audit, tax and investor activities and allocations of

facilities costs, principally for rent, utilities and property taxes. 

Selling, general and administrative expenses and related

percentages for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 

and 2002 were as follows: 

(In thousands $) 2004 2003 2002

Selling, general and 

administrative expenses $114,196 $98,474 $66,172

Increase from prior year $015,722 $32,302 $13,621

Percentage increase from 

prior year 16.0% 48.8% 25.9%

Percentage of total revenue 30.3% 36.3% 48.7%

2004 compared to 2003: Selling, general and administrative

expenses increased by $15.7 million in 2004 from 2003, as a

result of an increase of approximately $12.0 million in general

administrative and medical affairs expenses primarily due 

to higher headcount-related expenses and an increase of

approximately $3.6 million in sales force expenses primarily

due to the creation of a sales operations group. The sales 

operations group, among other things, manages pricing and

reimbursement, corporate accounts, customer service and 

government affairs, as well as sales fleet expenses. 

2003 compared to 2002: Selling, general and administrative

expenses increased in 2003 from 2002, primarily due to 

first-time expenses of approximately $10.1 million related to

our Stem Cell Therapies segment following the December 

2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp.; an increase of 

approximately $12.0 million in commercial expenses related 

to the expansion of the sales and marketing organization 

and an increase in customer service staff; and an increase 

of approximately $10.0 million in general administrative 

and medical affairs expenses. 

Litigation Settlement and Related Agreements: On December

31, 2002, we entered into a series of agreements with

EntreMed, Inc. and Children’s Medical Center Corporation, or

CMCC, terminating ongoing litigation relating to patents for

thalidomide analogs and directly granting to us an exclusive

license issued by CMCC for the rights to those patents. Under

the terms of an asset purchase agreement with EntreMed, we

paid EntreMed $10.0 million for all thalidomide analog patents

and associated clinical data and records, and the termination 

of any litigation surrounding those patents. Under the terms of

a securities purchase agreement with EntreMed, we acquired

from EntreMed 3,350,000 shares of Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase an additional

7,000,000 common shares for an aggregate cash consideration

of approximately $16.8 million. The Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock is convertible, at our option into an aggregate

of 16,750,000 shares of common stock at an initial conversion

price of $1.00 per share provided, however, that the conversion

price in effect from time to time shall be subject to certain

adjustments. Dividends are payable prior and in preference to

the declaration or payment of any dividend or distribution to

the holders of common stock. We have the right to one vote for

each share of Common Stock into which such share of Series A

Convertible Preferred Stock could then be converted and with

respect to such vote we have full voting rights and powers

equal to the voting rights and powers of the holders of shares

of Common Stock. After assessing the level of our ownership

interest in EntreMed and the fact that EntreMed is a clinical-

stage biopharmaceutical company engaged primarily in

research and development activities with proposed products

and research programs in the early stage of clinical development,

a charge of $7.2 million was recorded for in-process research

and development. As restated, we ascribed a value of $11.6

million to the convertible preferred stock of which $4.4 million

was recorded as an investment in associated companies at

December 31, 2002. 

The warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share, vest

after six months from the date of grant and expire after seven

years from the date of grant. The warrants also include a net

settlement feature and as discussed in Note 2, it was subsequently

determined that they should be accounted for as a derivative.

We ascribed a value of $5.1 million to the warrants as of
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December 31, 2002, which represents their estimated fair 

value at such date. 

We signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC that

terminated any existing thalidomide analog agreements

between CMCC and EntreMed and directly granted to Celgene

an exclusive worldwide license for the analog patents. We 

paid CMCC $2.5 million in December 2002 and $0.5 million 

in January 2004 under the agreement. Another $2.0 million 

is payable between 2005 and 2006. The present value of these

payments totaled $4.7 million and was expensed in 2002.

Additionally, we entered into a five year sponsored research

agreement with CMCC whereby we have committed $0.3 

million per year in funding. Additional payments are possible

under the agreement depending on the successful develop-

ment and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

We recorded a charge to earnings for the cost of these

agreements and related expenses of $22.7 million in 2002

including the write-down of the EntreMed Convertible

Preferred Stock to our residual equity interest in EntreMed 

and certain legal expenses incurred in connection with 

the settlement. 

Acquired In-Process Research And Development: On

December 31, 2002, we completed the acquisition of

Anthrogenesis Corp., which now operates as Celgene Cellular

Therapeutics, for an aggregate purchase price of $60.0 million.

The acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method

of accounting for business combinations, under which approxi-

mately $55.7 million was allocated to IPR&D and charged to

expense at the acquisition date. For more information on the

Anthrogenesis acquisition, refer to Notes 3 and 19 of the 

Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Interest and other income: Interest and other income

decreased approximately 21.8% to $30.0 million in 2004 from

$38.4 million in 2003. The decrease was primarily due to

changes in the fair value of the EntreMed warrants. In 2004, 

we recorded unrealized losses of $1.9 million related to these

warrants whereas, in 2003 we recorded unrealized gains of

$16.6 million. This reduction was partially offset by higher

returns on our cash and marketable securities portfolio (which

was largely due to higher average balances of cash and 

marketable securities as a result of the issuance of $400 

million of convertible notes, on June 3, 2003, as well as cash

generated through operations) and foreign exchange gains.

Interest and other income increased approximately 66.4% to

$38.4 million in 2003 from $23.1 million in 2002. The increase

was primarily due to unrealized gains of $16.6 in the fair value

of the EntreMed warrants partially offset by lower interest

income as a result of lower interest rates in 2003. 

Equity in losses of associated companies: As restated (see 

further discussions contained in this Management’s Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

and Footnote 2 of our consolidated financial statements), 

during 2003 under the equity method of accounting we 

recorded $4.4 million for our share of the EntreMed losses. 

Interest expense: Interest expense in 2004 was approximately

$9.6 million and includes twelve months of interest expense

and amortization of debt issuance costs on the $400 million of

convertible notes issued on June 3, 2003. Interest expense in

2003 was approximately $5.7 million and only includes seven

months of interest expense and amortization of debt issuance

costs on the $400 million of convertible notes issued on June 3,

2003. Interest expense in 2002 was immaterial. 

Income tax benefit (provision): In 2004, we recorded an

income tax provision of approximately $10.4 million, which

reflects an effective underlying tax rate of 16.5%. Our rate rose

in 2004 from 2003 primarily due to federal tax expense and

decreases in the valuation allowance available to offset income

tax expense. In 2003, our income tax provision was approximately

$0.7 million and included income tax expense of $1.1 million

for federal and state purposes, offset by a tax benefit of $0.4

million from the sale of certain state net operating loss 

carryforwards. In 2002, we recorded a net income tax benefit

of approximately $0.1 million, which reflected income tax

expense of $0.6 million for state purposes offset by a tax 

benefit of $0.7 million from the sale of certain state net

operating loss carryforwards. 

Income (Loss) from continuing operations: Income (loss) from

continuing operations and per common share amounts for the

years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows: 

(In thousands $, except
per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

As restated As restated

Income (loss) from 

continuing Operations $52,756 $24,943 $(91,492)

Per common share amounts:

Basic $000.32 $000.15 $00(0.60)

Diluted $000.31 $000.14 $00(0.60)

Weighted average number 

of shares of common stock 

utilized to calculate per 

common share amounts:

Basic 163,869 161,774 154,674

Diluted 172,855 170,796 154,674

2004 compared to 2003: Income from continuing operations

increased in 2004 from 2003 due to an increase in total revenue

of approximately $106.0 million (attributable primarily to an

increase in THALOMID® net sales) partly offset by higher 

operating expenses of approximately $60.7 million and a

decrease in interest and other income, net of approximately

$7.9 million (attributable to a $1.9 million decrease in fair

value of EntreMed warrants versus a prior year increase of

$16.6 million partly offset by an increase in interest income
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and foreign exchange gains and the inclusion in 2003 of equity

losses of associated companies of $4.4 million). 

2003 compared to 2002: In 2003, we recorded income from

continuing operations for the first time since our inception in

1986. Income from continuing operations increased in 2003

from 2002 due to an increase in total revenues of approximately

$135.8 million (attributable primarily to an increase in THALOMID®

net sales and first-time ALKERAN® sales that resulted from 

executing the ALKERAN® supply and distribution agreement

with GSK in March of 2003) and a $9.7 million increase in 

interest and other income, net primarily due to a $16.6 million

increase in the fair value of EntreMed warrants. Partially offsetting

these increases were higher operating expenses of approximately

$23.8 million and the inclusion in 2003 of equity losses of 

associated companies of $4.4 million. Impacting the 2003 to

2002 operating expenses comparison were aggregate one-time

costs of approximately $78.4 million incurred in the 2002 period

($55.7 million from the write-off of acquired in-process research

and development related to the Anthrogenesis acquisition and

$22.7 million associated with the litigation settlement and

related agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and CMCC). 

Gain on sale of chiral assets: In January 1998, we completed

the sale of our chiral intermediate business to Cambrex

Corporation. Pursuant to the minimum royalty provisions 

of the agreement, we received approximately $0.8 million 

and $1.0 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. For more 

information on the disposition of the chiral intermediates 

business, refer to Note 3 of our Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Net cash provided by operating activities increased to

approximately $155.9 million in 2004 compared to $18.7 

million in 2003. The increase was primarily due to higher 

earnings, the receipt of $80.0 million in connection with the

December 2004 THALOMID® development and commercialization

collaboration with Pharmion and a decrease in net working

capital levels. Net cash provided by operating activities in 

2003 increased approximately $47.0 million from 2002. 

The increase in 2003 compared to 2002 was primarily due to

higher earnings and the inclusion of $22.7 million of spending

in the 2002 period related to the litigation settlement and

related agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and CMCC, partially

offset by an increase in net working capital levels. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $92.6 million in

2004 compared to $443.6 million in 2003. Included in the 

2004 activities were cash outflows of $109.9 million for 

the October 2004 acquisition of Penn T, $7.0 million for an

investment made in Royalty Pharma Strategic Partners, LP,

which is classified in other assets on the consolidated balance

sheet, and $36.0 million for capital expenditures. Partially 

offsetting these outflows were cash inflows of approximately

$60.3 million from net marketable securities sales. Included in

the 2003 activities were cash outflows of $421.2 million for net

marketable securities purchases, $12.0 million for the purchase

of a Pharmion Corporation senior convertible note and $11.2

million for capital expenditures. In 2002, approximately $63.3

million of net cash was provided by investing activities, which

was due to cash inflows of approximately $93.1 million from

net marketable securities sales, offset by cash outflows of

$11.1 million for capital expenditures, $10.3 million related 

to the December 2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis and $9.5

million for the value ascribed to the EntreMed convertible 

preferred shares and warrants received in connection with 

the December 31, 2002 litigation settlement and related 

agreements with EntreMed. 

The Company previously followed the common practice of

classifying its investments in auction rate notes as cash and

cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet. It was

determined that these instruments are not cash equivalents

and therefore, the Company has made a reclassification to its

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 in order to

conform to the current year’s presentation. The reclassification

resulted in a decrease in cash and cash equivalents and a 

corresponding increase in marketable securities available for

sale as of December 31, 2003 of approximately $207.1 million.

The reclassification resulted in a net decrease of $207.1 million

in net cash provided by investing activities in 2003, which was

comprised of the following components; an increase in the 

proceeds from the sale of marketable securities of $229.2 

million and an increase in the purchase of marketable 

securities of approximately $436.3 million. The Company 

did not hold such securities in 2002. 

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately

$16.0 million, $399.7 million and $3.4 million in 2004, 2003

and 2002, respectively, and included cash inflows from the

exercise of common stock options and warrants of approximately

$16.3 million, $12.0 million and $4.0 million in 2004, 2003 

and 2002, respectively. Included in 2003 were cash inflows 

of $387.9 million from net proceeds of the issuance of our 

convertible notes on June 3, 2003. 

Currency rate changes negatively impacted our cash 

and cash equivalents balances by $4.4 million in 2004. At

December 31, 2004, cash, cash equivalents and marketable

securities were $748.5 million, an increase of $81.6 million

from December 31, 2003 levels and reflects the inclusion of

1,939,600 shares of Pharmion Corporation common stock, 

of which 1,150,511 shares were obtained in connection with

the March 2004, conversion of the Pharmion Convertible 

Note and 789,089 shares were obtained in connection with 

the September 2004, exercise of Pharmion warrants. At

December 31, 2004, the Pharmion common stock investment

classified in marketable securities had an estimated fair 

value of $81.9 million. 
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We expect increased research and product development

costs, clinical trial costs, expenses associated with the regulatory

approval process and commercialization of products and capital

investments. However, existing cash, cash equivalents and 

marketable securities available for sale, combined with 

expected net product sales and revenues from various

research, collaboration and royalties agreements are expected

to provide sufficient capital resources to fund our operations

for the foreseeable future. 

Contractual Obligations 

The following table sets forth our contractual obligations as

of December 31, 2004: 

Payment Due By Period

Less More
than 1 1-3 3-5 than 5 

(In millions $) Year Years Years Years Total

Convertible Note 

Obligations $0.— $0.— $400.0 $..— $400.0

Operating leases 3.6 6.7 5.6 6.3 22.2

ALKERAN® supply and 

distribution agreement 20.0 5.0 — — 25.0

Employment agreements 2.6 0.7 — — 3.3

Other contract

commitments 5.8 7.5 4.4 — 17.7

$32.0 $19.9 $410.0 $6.3 $468.2

Convertible Note Obligations: In June 2003, we issued an 

aggregate principal amount of $400 million of unsecured 

convertible notes to qualified institutional investors. The 

convertible notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of

1.75% payable semi-annually commencing December 1, 2003.

The convertible notes have a stock split adjusted conversion

rate of $24.225 per share, which represented a 50% premium

to our closing stock price of $16.15, after adjusting prices for

the two-for-one stock split effected on October 22, 2004, on

May 28, 2003. The debt issuance costs related to these 

convertible notes, which totaled approximately $12.2 million,

are classified under “Other Assets” on the Consolidated Balance

Sheet and are being amortized over five years, assuming no

conversion. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the

noteholders can convert the notes at any time into 16,511,840

shares of common stock at the conversion price. In addition,

the noteholders have the right to require us to redeem the

notes in cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount

to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, prior to maturity in the

event of a change of control and certain other transactions

defined as a “fundamental change” within the agreement. 

We have registered the notes and common stock issuable 

upon conversion with the Securities and Exchange

Commission, and we are required to use reasonable best

efforts to keep the related registration statement effective for

the defined period. Pursuant to the indenture governing the

notes, we may not merge or transfer substantially all assets, 

as defined, unless certain conditions are met. 

Operating (facilities) leases: We lease an aggregate of

92,100-square feet of laboratory and office space in Warren,

New Jersey, under various leases with unaffiliated parties,

which have lease terms ending between June 2005 and July

2010 with renewal options ranging from either one or two

additional five-year terms. Annual rent for these facilities is

approximately $1.0 million. We also are required to reimburse

the lessors for real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance

and other operating costs. We also lease an 18,000-square foot

laboratory and office facility in North Brunswick, New Jersey,

under a lease with an unaffiliated party that has a term ending

in March 2009 with two five-year renewal options. Annual rent

for this facility is approximately $0.5 million. 

In November 2004, we purchased land and several buildings

in Summit, New Jersey, which will enable us to consolidate four

New Jersey locations into one corporate headquarters and provide

the room to accommodate our anticipated growth. As a result,

we are currently exploring available options to reduce or 

eliminate the financial impact of existing lease commitments

on redundant facilities. 

In connection with our acquisition of Anthrogenesis in

December 2002, we assumed two separate leases in the same

facility for office and laboratory space in Cedar Knolls, New

Jersey and have subsequently entered into one additional lease

for additional space in the same facility. The leases are for an

aggregate 20,000-square feet with annual rent of approximately

$0.2 million. We also are required to reimburse the lessors for

real estate taxes, insurance, utilities, maintenance and other

operating costs. The leases have terms ending between

September 2007 and April 2009 with renewal options ranging

from either one or two additional five-year terms. In November

of 2002, Anthrogenesis entered into a lease for an additional

11,000 square feet of laboratory space in Baton Rouge,

Louisiana. The lease has a five-year term with a three-year

renewal option. Annual rent for this facility is approximately

$0.1 million. 

We lease a 78,202-square foot laboratory and office facility

in San Diego, California from an unaffiliated party, which has a

term ending in August 2012 with one five-year renewal option.

Annual rent for this facility is approximately $1.9 million and is

subject to specified annual rental increases. Under the lease,

we also are required to reimburse the lessor for real estate taxes,

insurance, utilities, maintenance and other operating costs. 

For a schedule of payments related to operating leases, refer

to Note 18 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

ALKERAN® Purchase Commitments: In March 2003, we

entered into a three-year supply and distribution agreement
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with GSK to distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN® (melphalan),

a therapy approved by the FDA for the palliative treatment of

multiple myeloma and carcinoma of the ovary. Under the

terms of the agreement, we purchase ALKERAN tablets and

ALKERAN for infusion from GSK and distribute the products in

the United States under the Celgene label. The agreement

requires that we purchase certain minimum quantities each

year for an initial three-year term under a take-or-pay arrange-

ment aggregating $56.6 million over such period and is 

automatically extended by successive one-year periods, unless

at least one-year prior to the renewal date, either party advises

the other party that it elects not to extend the agreement. 

At December 31, 2004, the remaining minimum purchase

requirements under the agreement totaled $25.0 million. 

Employment Agreements: We have employment agreements

with certain officers and employees. Employment contracts 

provide for base compensation and an annual target bonus

based upon achievement of our performance measures and

annual increases in base compensation reflecting annual

reviews and related salary adjustment. The outstanding 

commitment for base compensation related to employment

contracts as of December 31, 2004 was approximately $2.6

million for 2005 and $0.7 million for 2006 (excluding any

change in control provisions). 

Other Contract Commitments: We signed an exclusive

license agreement with CMCC, terminating any existing

thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed

and directly granting to us an exclusive worldwide license by

CMCC for the analog patents. Under the agreement, we are

required to pay CMCC $2.0 million between 2005 and 2006, the

present value of which was expensed in 2002. Additional payments

are possible under the agreement depending on the successful

development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

On October 21, 2004, the Company, through an indirect wholly-

owned subsidiary, acquired all of the outstanding shares of

Penn T Limited, or Penn T, a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®,

from a consortium of private investors. Penn T was subsequently

renamed Celgene UK Manufacturing II, Limited, or CUK II. In

connection with the acquisition, we and CUK II entered into 

a technical services agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical

Services Limited, or PPSL, and Penn Pharmaceutical Holding

Limited pursuant to which PPSL provides the services and facilities

necessary for the manufacture of THALOMID® and other

thalidomide formulations. The total cost over the five-year

minimum agreement period is approximately $11.0 million. 

In October 2003, we signed an agreement with Institute of

Drug Technology Australia Limited, or IDT, for the manufacture 

of finished dosage form of THALOMID® capsules. The agreement

commenced with the FDA’s approval of IDT as an alternate sup-

plier of THALOMID capsules to Celgene and requires minimum

payments for THALOMID® capsules of $4.7 million for the

three-year term. The agreement provides us with additional

capacity and reduces our dependency on one manufacturer for

the production of THALOMID®. As of December 31, 2004, the

FDA has not approved such alternate supplier. 

2005 Financial Outlook 

In our January 27, 2005 earnings release, we set forth our 

initial earnings estimate for the full year 2005. Although we

believe that the January 27, 2005 estimate continues to reflect

our current thinking, there can be no assurance that revenues

or earnings will develop in the manner projected or if the

analysis, on which the projection were based, were to be

redone on the date hereof that there would be no change in

the guidance. 

Revenues: Our initial 2005 financial guidance anticipates

total revenue in the range of $525 million, with THALOMID®

revenues targeted in the range of $400 million. Our 2005 

revenue forecast for the RITALIN® family of drugs remains at

approximately $60 million, which includes a payment for the

approval of FOCALIN® XR. Our initial financial guidance does

not include REVLIMID® product sales, nor does it include

expenses associated with the potential commercial launch of

REVLIMID®. As regulatory timelines become more certain we

will update this guidance. 

R&D Expenses: Research and development expenses are

expected to increase to the $190 million range in 2005.

Important components of the increased spending include (1)

expansion of both United States and European regulatory 

programs directed toward hematological and malignant blood

disorders, (2) spending for the investigation of agents in solid

tumor clinical trials, and (3) the potential advancement of 

compounds in our discovery programs, including PDE4/

TNF-alpha inhibitors, kinase inhibitors, ligase inhibitors, 

benzopyrans and placental-derived stem cells into our pre-

clinical and clinical development pipeline. 

SG&A Expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenses

are expected to increase to the $140 million range in 2005,

which includes increased spending for the commercial support

of THALOMID® and ALKERAN® and expand our commercial 

and manufacturing capabilities in the United Kingdom and

Switzerland. This guidance excludes the potential costs of

employee’s stock options. 

New Accounting Principles 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards

Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards, or SFAS, No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”, or SFAS

123R, that addresses the accounting for share-based payment

transactions in which employee services are received in
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exchange for either equity instruments of the company, 

liabilities that are based on the fair value of the company’s

equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of

such equity instruments. SFAS No. 123R addresses all forms of

share-based payment awards, including shares issued under

employee stock purchase plans, stock options, restricted stock

and stock appreciation rights. SFAS No. 123R eliminates the

ability to account for share-based compensation transactions

using APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to

Employees”, that was provided in Statement 123 as originally

issued. Instead, under SFAS No. 123R companies are required 

to record compensation expense for all share-based payment

award transactions measured at fair value. This statement is

effective for quarters ending after January 1, 2006. We are 

currently evaluating the impact of adopting this statement. 

Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 03-01, “The

Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its

Application to Certain Investments,” or EITF 03-01, was issued

in February 2004. EITF 03-01 stipulates disclosure requirements

for investments with unrealized losses that have not been recog-

nized as other-than-temporary impairments. The provisions of

EITF 03-01 are effective for fiscal years ending after December

15, 2003. We have complied with the disclosure provisions of

EITF 03-01. In September 2004, the FASB staff issued two 

proposed FASB Staff Positions, or FSP: Proposed FSP EITF Issue

03-1-a, which provides guidance for the application of paragraph

16 of EITF Issue 03-1 to debt securities that are impaired

because of interest rate and/or sector spread increases, and

Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-1-b, which delays the effective date

of Issue 03-1 for debt securities that are impaired because of

interests rate and/or sector spread increases. We are currently

monitoring these developments to assess the potential impact

on our financial position and results of operations. 

EITF Issue No. 03-6, “Participating Securities and the Two-Class

Method Under FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings Per Share.” In

April 2004, the EITF issued Statement No. 03-6, “Participating

Securities and the Two-Class Method Under FASB Statement

No. 128, Earnings Per Share.” EITF 03-6 addresses a number of

questions regarding the computation of earnings per share by

a company that has issued securities other than common stock

that contractually entitle the holder to the right to participate

in dividends when, and if, declared. The issue also provides 

further guidance in applying the two-class method of calculating

earnings per share, clarifying the definition of a participating

security and how to apply the two-class method. EITF 03-6 was

effective for fiscal periods beginning after March 31, 2004 and

was required to be retroactively applied. We evaluated the

terms of our convertible notes and debentures and determined

that none of these instruments qualified as participating 

securities under the provisions of EITF 03-6. As a result, the

adoption of EITF 03-6 had no impact on the Company. 

EITF Issue No. 02-14, “Whether an Investor Should Apply 

the Equity Method of Accounting to Investments Other Than

Common Stock,” or EITF 02-14, is effective in the fourth quarter

of 2004. EITF 02-14 states that an investor should only apply

the equity method of accounting when it has investments in

either common stock or in-substance common stock. EITF 02-

14 also provides characteristics to be evaluated in determining

whether an investment in other than common stock is in-

substance substantially similar to an investments in that entity’s

common stock and thus, accounted for under the equity

method. For investments that are not common stock or in-

substance common stock, but were accounted for under the

equity method, EITF 02-14 requires discontinued use of the

equity method of accounting prospectively for reporting periods

beginning after September 15, 2004. Previously recognized 

equity method earnings and losses should not be reserved. 

Based on the above guidance, the Company concluded that

is EntreMed voting preferred stock investments, which had 

previously been written-down to zero under the equity method

of accounting, was not in-substance common stock as defined

in EITF 02-14 and therefore, discontinued use of the equity method

of accounting beginning on October 1, 2004. Prospectively, the

Company will account for such investment under the cost

method since the preferred stock is not publicly traded. This

change does not impact the carrying value of the EntreMed

preferred stock investment and accordingly, did not have an

impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

A critical accounting policy is one which is both important

to the portrayal of the Company’s financial condition and

results of operation and requires management’s most difficult,

subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the 

need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are

inherently uncertain. While our significant accounting policies

are more fully described in Note 1 of the Notes to the

Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual

report, we believe the following accounting policies to be critical: 

Revenue Recognition on Collaboration Agreements: We have

formed collaborative research and development agreements

and alliances with several pharmaceutical companies. These

agreements are in the form of research and development and

license agreements. The agreements are for both early- and

late-stage compounds and are focused on specific disease

areas. For the early-stage compounds, the agreements are 

relatively short-term agreements that are renewable depending

on the success of the compounds as they move through 

preclinical development. The agreements call for nonrefundable

upfront payments, milestone payments on achieving significant



37

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

milestone events, and in some cases ongoing research funding.

The agreements also contemplate royalty payments on sales if

and when the compound receives FDA marketing approval. 

In accordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, or SAB

104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” upfront

payments are recorded as deferred revenue and recognized

over the estimated service period. If the estimated service period

is subsequently modified, the period over which the upfront

fee is recognized is modified accordingly on a prospective basis.

Continuation of certain contracts is dependent upon our 

achieving specific contractual milestones; however, none of the

payments received to date are refundable regardless of the

outcome of the project. Revenue under research contracts is

recorded as earned under the contracts, as services are provided. 

SAB No. 104 updates the guidance in SAB No. 101 and

requires companies to identify separate units of accounting

based on the consensus reached on Emerging Issues Task Force,

or EITF, Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple

Deliverables”, or EITF 00-21. EITF 00-21 provides guidance on

how to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple

revenue-generating activities or deliverables should be divided

into separate units of accounting for revenue recognition 

purposes, and if this division is required, how the arrangement

consideration should be allocated among the separate units 

of accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements

entered into in quarters beginning after June 15, 2003. If the

deliverables in a revenue arrangement constitute separate

units of accounting according to the EITF’s separation criteria,

the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for each 

identified unit. If the arrangement is a single unit of accounting,

the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for the

entire arrangement. Prior to the adoption of EITF 00-21, 

revenues from the achievement of research and development

milestones, which represent the achievement of a significant

step in the research and development process, were recognized

when and if the milestones were achieved. 

Gross to Net Sales Accruals For Sales Returns, Medicaid

Rebates and Chargebacks: We record an allowance for sales

returns based on the actual returns history for consumed lots

and the trend experience for lots where product is still being

returned. We record Medicaid rebate accruals based on historical

payment data and estimates of Medicaid beneficiary utilization.

We record chargeback accruals based on actual sales to 

customers who are covered under federally qualified programs. 

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance: We utilize the asset

and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under 

this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined

based on the difference between the financial statement

carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using

enacted tax rates in effect for years in which the temporary 

differences are expected to reverse. We provide a valuation

allowance when it is more likely than not that deferred tax

assets will not be realized. 

Accounting for Long-Term Incentive Plans: The recorded liability

for long-term incentive plans was $3.9 million as of December

31, 2004. Plan payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% of

the participant’s salary for the 2005 Plan and 0% to 150% of

the participant’s salary for the 2006 Plan and the maximum

potential payouts are $6.1 million and $4.9 million for the 

2005 and 2006 Plans, respectively. Upon a change in control,

participants will be entitled to an immediate payment equal 

to their target award, or, if higher, an award based on actual

performance through the date of the change in control. 

Entremed Warrants: We recently exercised warrants to pur-

chase up to 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed common stock. The

warrants had an exercise price of $1.50 per share. The warrants

were accounted for as a derivative instrument under SFAS No.

133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging

Activities.” Under SFAS 133, the warrants were recorded on the

balance sheet at fair value and were marked to market, with

gains and losses recognized in earnings. The warrants were

recorded on the balance sheet at $19.8 million and $21.7 

million at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Fair 

value is estimated using a Black-Scholes options pricing model

incorporating management assumptions about expected term

and volatility. 

Business Combinations: The Penn T and Anthrogenesis 

acquisitions completed in October 2004 and December 2002,

respectively, have been accounted for under the provisions of

SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations,” which requires the use

of the purchase method. Under SFAS 141, the purchase price is

allocated to the assets received and liabilities assumed based

upon their respective fair values. The initial purchase price 

allocations may be adjusted within one year of the purchase

date for changes in the estimated fair value of assets acquired

and liabilities assumed. The resulting goodwill, which represents

the excess of costs of an acquired entity over the fair value 

of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, and

intangible assets are accounted for under SFAS No. 142,

“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” Under SFAS 142, 

goodwill and intangible assets determined to have an indefinite

useful life are not amortized, but instead are tested for 

impairment at least annually. Intangible assets with estimable

useful lives are amortized to their estimated residual values

over their respective estimated useful lives, and reviewed for

impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.”
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

The following discussion provides forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about our potential exposure to 

market risk. Market risk represents the potential loss arising from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments. The risk 

of loss is assessed based on the likelihood of adverse changes in fair values, cash flows or future earnings. 

We have established guidelines relative to the diversification and maturities of investments to maintain safety and liquidity. 

These guidelines are reviewed periodically and may be modified depending on market conditions. Although investments may be 

subject to credit risk, our investment policy specifies credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit

exposure from any single issue, issuer or type of investment. At December 31, 2004, our market risk sensitive instruments consisted

of marketable securities available for sale, warrants to purchase up to 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed common stock and unsecured

convertible notes issued by the Company. 

Marketable Securities Available for Sale: At December 31, 2004, our marketable securities available for sale consisted of U.S. 

government agency mortgage obligations, U.S. government agency bonds, corporate debt securities and 1,939,600 shares of

Pharmion common stock. Marketable securities available for sale are carried at fair value, are held for an indefinite period of time

and are intended to be used to meet our ongoing liquidity needs. Unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities, which

are deemed to be temporary, are reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity, net of tax. The cost of all debt securities

is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and

losses, is included in interest and other income. 

As of December 31, 2004, the principal amounts, fair values and related weighted average interest rates of the Company’s investments

in debt securities classified as marketable securities available-for-sale were as follows: 
Duration

Fixed rate securities
Variable

0 to 1 1 to 3 3 to 5 5 to 7 rate
(In Thousands $) Year Years Years Years Securities Total

Principal amount $287,443 $108,996 $30,264 $83,425 $20,513 $530,641

Fair value $288,542 $112,424 $31,895 $80,862 $17,717 $531,440

Average interest rate 2.98% 4.33% 4.92% 5.81% 5.88% 3.93%

Pharmion Common Stock: In March 2004, we converted our $12.0 million Pharmion Senior Convertible Note investment, which
had accrued interest of approximately $0.7 million, into 1,150,511 shares of Pharmion common stock. Additionally, in September
2004, we exercised a total of 789,089 warrants to purchase shares of Pharmion common stock, which we had received in connection
with previous transactions with Pharmion Corporation, (i.e., the November 2001 license agreement and the April 2003 securities 
purchase agreement). As a result of these transactions, at December 31, 2004, we held a total of 1,939,600 shares of Pharmion
Corporation common stock, which had an estimated fair value of approximately $81.9 million (based on the closing price reported 
by the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotations, or NASDAQ system, and, which exceeded the cost by
approximately $61.7 million. The amount by which the fair value exceeded the cost (i.e., the unrealized gain) was included in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in the Stockholders’ Equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The fair value of
the Pharmion common stock investment is subject to market price volatility and any increase or decrease in Pharmion’s common
stock quoted market price will have a similar percentage increase or decrease in the fair value of our investment. 

EntreMed Warrants: In connection with the December 31, 2002, litigation settlement and related agreements with EntreMed
Corporation and CMCC, we received warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed common stock. Recently, the warrants were 
exercised at a price of $1.50 per share. The Company paid $10,500,000 and took delivery of 7,000,000 Common Shares of EntreMed.
Based on EntreMed’s closing stock price on December 31, 2004, of $3.24, the intrinsic value of the warrants were approximately
$12.2 million and the fair value using a Black-Scholes options pricing model was estimated to be approximately $19.8 million. Since
the warrants gave us the right, but not an obligation, to purchase the shares of EntreMed common stock, the warrants could never
result in a cumulative negative charge to earnings. 

Convertible Debt: In June 2003, we issued an aggregate principal amount of $400.0 million of unsecured convertible notes. The convertible
notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of 1.75% payable semi-annually. The convertible notes can be converted at any time into
16,511,840 shares of common stock at a stock split adjusted conversion price of $24.225 per share (for more information see Note 10 of
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements). At December 31, 2004, the fair value of the convertible notes exceeded the carrying
value of $400.0 million by approximately $117.0 million, which we believe reflects the increase in the market price of the Company’s 
common stock to $26.52 per share as of December 31, 2004. Assuming other factors are held constant, an increase in interest rates 
generally results in a decrease in the fair value of fixed-rate convertible debt, but does not impact the carrying value, and an increase in
the Company’s stock price generally results in an increase in the fair value of convertible debt, but does not impact the carrying value. 
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Celgene Corporation, or the Company, is responsible for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal

control over financial reporting. As defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission, internal control

over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of the Company’s principal

executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s Board of Directors, management

and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and

the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted

accounting principles. 

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that

(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the

Company’s transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that

transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the consolidated financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the

Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s management and

directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized

acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated

financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 

the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of

compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In connection with the preparation of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, 

management has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or the

COSO Framework. Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of the Company’s

internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of those controls. 

Based on this evaluation, management has concluded that the Company’s internal controls over financial

reporting were effective as of December 31, 2004. 

Management has not evaluated the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting at Penn T

Limited, or Penn T, which was acquired on October 21, 2004 and, as such, does not extend its conclusion

regarding the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting to the controls of that entity. 

Penn T represents approximately $9.6 million of consolidated total assets and $2.3 million of consolidated

net revenue in the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004. 

See Note 3 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for additional information on the Penn T

acquisition. Accordingly, management’s assessment as of December 31, 2004 does not include the 

internal control over financial reporting of Penn T. 

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company’s consolidated

financial statements included in this report, has issued their report on management ‘s assessment of

internal control over financial reporting, a copy of which appears on page 41 of this annual report.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

Celgene Corporation: 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as 

listed in the accompanying index. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements,

we also have audited the consolidated financial statement schedule as listed on the accompanying 

index. These consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule are the

responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 

consolidated financial statements and consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material

respects, the financial position of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and

2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year 

period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Also, in our opinion, the related consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation 

to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects,

the information set forth therein. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting 

Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries’ internal 

control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal 

Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission, or COSO, and our report dated March 18, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on 

management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over financial reporting. 

As further discussed in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, the consolidated financial 

statements for 2003 and 2002 have been restated. 

Short Hills, New Jersey

March 18, 2005



41

The Board of Directors and Stockholders Celgene Corporation: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial

Reporting, that Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,

2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of

the Treadway Commission, or COSO. Celgene Corporation’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over

financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to

express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control

over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a

reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance

of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2)

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance

with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial

statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries maintained effective internal control 

over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal

Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO. Also, in

our opinion, Celgene Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December

31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission, or COSO. 

Celgene Corporation acquired Penn T Limited during 2004, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of

Celgene Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, Penn T Limited’s internal control over financial

reporting associated with total assets of $9.6 million and total revenue of $2.3 million included in the consolidated financial 

statements of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for the year ended December 31, 2004. Our audit of internal control over

financial reporting of Celgene Corporation also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Penn T Limited. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the

consolidated balance sheets of Celgene Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated

statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004,

and the related financial statement schedule, and our report dated March 18, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion on those 

consolidated financial statements. 

KPMG LLP

Short Hills, New Jersey

March 18, 2005

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm



42

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003

(As Restated)

Assets

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $0,135,227 $060,328

Marketable securities available for sale 613,310 606,639

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $2,208 and $1,530

at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively 46,074 35,495

Inventory 24,404 9,696

Deferred income taxes 4,082 —

Other current assets 26,783 17,941

Total current assets 849,880 730,099

Plant and equipment, net 47,319 22,546

Intangible assets, net 108,955 2,695

Goodwill 41,258 3,490

Deferred income taxes 14,613 —

Other assets 45,268 54,196

Total assets $1,107,293 $813,026

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $0,018,650 $015,340

Accrued expenses 68,534 55,276

Income taxes payable 41,188 281

Current portion of deferred revenue 6,926 589

Current portion of capital leases and note obligation 8 30

Deferred income taxes 5,447 —

Other current liabilities 662 278

Total current liabilities 141,415 71,794

Long term convertible notes 400,000 400,000

Deferred revenue, net of current portion 73,992 1,122

Capitalized leases and note obligation, net of current portion 4 16

Other non-current liabilities 14,438 8,350

Total liabilities 629,849 481,282

Stockholders’ Equity:

Preferred stock, $.01 par value per share, 5,000,000 shares

authorized; none outstanding at December 31, 2004 and 2003 — —

Common stock, $.01 par value per share, 275,000,000 shares

authorized; issued 165,079,198 and 81,411,055 shares

at December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively 1,651 814

Common stock in treasury, at cost; 10,564 shares at

December 31, 2004 and none at December 31, 2003 (306) —

Additional paid-in capital 641,907 607,484

Accumulated deficit (234,410) (287,166)

Accumulated other comprehensive income 68,602 10,612

Total stockholders’ equity 477,444 331,744

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $1,107,293 $813,026

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts) 2004 2003 2002

(As Restated) (As Restated)

Revenue:

Net product sales $330,571 $244,453 $122,921

Collaborative agreements and other revenue 20,012 15,174 8,115

Royalty revenue 26,919 11,848 4,710

Total revenue 377,502 271,475 135,746

Expenses:

Cost of goods sold 59,726 52,950 20,867

Research and development 160,852 122,700 84,924

Selling, general and administrative 114,196 98,474 66,172

Litigation settlement and related agreements — — 22,704

Acquired in-process research and development — — 55,700

Total expenses 334,774 274,124 250,367

Operating income (loss) 42,728 (2,649) (114,621)

Other income and expense:

Interest and other income 29,994 38,369 23,058

Equity in losses of associated companies — 4,392 —

Interest expense 9,551 5,667 27

Income (loss) before income taxes 63,171 25,661 (91,590)

Income tax provision (benefit) 10,415 718 (98)

Income (loss) from continuing operations 52,756 24,943 (91,492)

Discontinued operations:

Gain on sale of chiral assets — 750 1,000

Net income (loss) $052,756 $025,693 $((90,492)

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share:

Basic $0000.32 $0000.15 $00((0.60)

Diluted $0000.31 $0000.14 $00((0.60)

Discontinued operations per common share:

Basic $0000,— $0000.01 $0000.01

Diluted $0000,— $0000.01 $0000.01

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $0000.32 $0000.16 $00((0.59)

Diluted $0000.31 $0000.15 $00((0.59)

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock utilized to calculate per share amounts:

Basic 163,869 161,774 154,674

Diluted 172,855 170,796 154,674

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity 
Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additional
Common Treasury Paid-in

(Dollars in thousands) Stock Stock Capital

Balances at December 31, 2001 $0,756 $00(3) $527,023 

Net loss (As Restated)
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for sale 
securities, net of taxes

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net loss

Comprehensive loss (As Restated)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 12 3,956 

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans —   5 961 

Purchase of treasury stock (2)

Conversion of long-term convertible notes 19 11,695 

Shares issued pursuant to Anthrogenesis acquisition 15 47,426 

Reduction of deferred compensation for terminations (328)

Amortization of deferred compensation

Expense related to non-employee stock options  and restricted stock 
granted to employees 467 

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options 77 

Balances at December 31, 2002 (As Restated) $0,802 $00—   $591,277 

Net income (As Restated)
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available for 
sale securities, net of taxes

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Comprehensive income (As Restated)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 11 11,959 

Issuance of common stock for employee  benefit plans 1 2,774 

Expense related to non-employee stock options 
and restricted stock granted to employees 704 

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options 770 

Collection of notes receivable from stockholders

Balances at December 31, 2003 (As Restated) $0,814 $00—   $607,484 

Net income
Other comprehensive income:

Net change in unrealized gain (loss) on available 
for sale securities, net of tax

Less: reclassification adjustment for gain included in net income

Currency translation adjustments

Comprehensive income

Purchase of treasury stock (306)

Issuance of common stock related to the 2:1 stock split 823 (823)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 13 16,329

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 1 4,266

Expense related to non-employee stock options and 
restricted stock granted to employees 449

Income tax benefit upon exercise of stock options 14,202

Balances at December 31, 2004 $1,651 $(306) $641,907

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Notes Accumulated
Receivable Other

Accumulated Deferred from Comprehensive
Deficit Compensation Stockholders Income (Loss) Total

$(222,367) $(1,593) $(42) $06,651 $310,425 

(90,492) (90,492)

6,323 6,323 

(5,946) (5,946)

$(90,115)

3,968 

966 

(2)

11,714 

47,441 

328 —   

1,265 1,265 

467 

77 

$(312,859) $0000 —   $(42) $07,028 $286,206 

25,693 25,693 

10,939 10,939 

(7,355) (7,355)

$029,277 

11,970 

2,775 

704 

770 

42 42 

$(287,166) $0000 —   $0(—   $10,612 $331,744 

52,756 52,756

56,362 56,362

(3,050) (3,050)

4,678 4,678

$110,746

(306)

—

16,342

4,267

449

14,202

$(234,410) $0000 — $0(— $68,602 $477,444
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31, 

(Dollars in thousands) 2004 2003 2002

(As Restated) (As Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $052,756 $24,943 $(91,492)
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing

operations to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization of long-term assets 9,690 8,027 5,182
Provision for accounts receivable allowances 867 448 295
Realized gain on marketable securities available for sale (3,050) (7,355) (5,946)
Unrealized loss (gain) on value of EntreMed warrants 1,922 (16,574) —
Equity losses in associated companies — 4,392 —
Non-cash write-off of acquired in-process research and development — — 55,700
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense 449 704 467
Amortization of premium/discount on marketable securities available for sale, net 2,085 1,238 367
Loss on sale of equipment — 84 —
Amortization of debt issuance cost 2,443 1,422 —
Amortization of discount on note obligation 108 137 —
Shares issued for employee benefit plans 4,267 2,775 966

Change in current assets and liabilities, excluding the effect of acquisition:
Increase in accounts receivable (5,603) (18,273) (4,166)
Increase in inventory (11,192) (4,891) (1,198)
Increase in other operating assets (19,869) (9,253) (2,917)
Increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses and taxes payable 41,858 30,403 19,298
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 79,208 498 (4,866)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 155,939 18,725 (28,310)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (36,015) (11,227) (11,077)
Business acquisition, net of cash received (109,882) — (10,299)
Proceeds from the sale of equipment — 138 —
Proceeds from sales and maturities of marketable securities available for sale 539,200 415,595 133,265
Purchases of marketable securities available for sale (478,939) (836,827) (40,116)
Investment in convertible notes — (12,000) —
Purchase of investment securities (7,000) — (9,508)
Proceeds from the sale of chiral intermediate assets — 750 1,000

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (92,636) (443,571) 63,265

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options and warrants 16,342 11,970 3,968
Proceeds from convertible notes — 400,000 —
Debt issuance cost — (12,212) —
Proceeds from notes receivable from stockholders — 42 —
Purchase of treasury stock (306) — (2)
Repayment of capital lease and note obligations (34) (101) (587)

Net cash provided by financing activities 16,002 399,699 3,379

Effect of currency rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4,406) — —
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 74,899 (25,147) 38,334
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 60,328 85,475 47,141

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $135,227 $60,328 $ 85,475

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activity:
Change in net unrealized gain (loss) on marketable securities available for sale 53,312 (3,584) (377)

Issuance of common stock upon the conversion of
convertible notes and accrued interest thereon, net — — 11,714

Equipment acquisition on capital leases 110 —

Deferred compensation relating to stock options — — (328)

Issuance of common stock, options and warrants in
connection with acquisition of Anthrogenesis — — 47,441

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interest paid 7,000 3,584 27

Cash paid for income taxes (received for tax benefit) 5,493 (653) —

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 (Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, unless otherwise indicated)

Nature Of Business And Basis of Presentation: Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries (collectively

“Celgene” or the “Company”) is an integrated biopharmaceutical company primarily engaged in the 

discovery, development and commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat cancer and

immune-inflammatory diseases through regulation of cellular, genomic and proteomic targets. The

Company’s commercial stage programs include pharmaceutical sales of THALOMID® and ALKERAN®, 

a licensing agreement with Novartis for FOCALIN® and the entire RITALIN® family of drugs, as well as, 

biotherapeutic products through Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, or CCT, a wholly owned subsidiary. 

THALOMID® (thalidomide), the Company’s lead product, was approved in July 1998 for the treatment of

erythema nodosum leprosum, or ENL, by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA. Net THALOMID®

product sales accounted for approximately 82%, 82% and 88% of total revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002,

respectively. In October 2004, the Company acquired all of the outstanding shares of Penn T Limited, the

UK based manufacturer of THALOMID®. This acquisition expanded the Company’s corporate capabilities

and enabled the Company to control manufacturing for THALOMID® worldwide. In March 2003, the

Company entered into a three-year supply and distribution agreement with GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, 

to distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN® (melphalan) in all dosage forms in the United States under

Celgene’s label. In November 2001, the Company received FDA approval for FOCALIN®, its refined version

of RITALIN®, for the treatment of attention deficit disorder/attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.

FOCALIN® is marketed by Novartis Pharma AG. Under the agreement with Novartis, the Company receives

royalty payments on the entire RITALIN® family line of products. In December 2002, the Company

acquired Anthrogenesis Corp., or Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, a privately held New Jersey based 

biotherapeutics company and cord blood banking business, which is pioneering the recovery of stem cells

from human placental tissues following the completion of full-term, successful pregnancies. The portfolio

of products in the Company’s preclinical and clinical-stage pipeline includes Immunomodulatory Drugs, 

or IMiDsTM, and PDE4 Inhibitors. The Company hopes to use its extensive knowledge on THALOMID® 

as a blueprint to advance these next generation compounds. Through a “bottom up” approach (target

screening, bioinformatics, assay development, libraries and cellular disease models) at its San Diego,

California subsidiary, Signal Pharmaceuticals LLP, the Company has also produced such compounds 

as Benzopyrans and Selective Estrogen Receptor Modulators, or SERMs, Kinases Inhibitors, Tubulin 

Inhibitors, and Ligase Modulators. 

During 2004, the Company initiated a two-for-one common stock split increasing the number of

authorized shares to 275,000,000 with a par value of $.01 per share, of which 165,068,634 shares were

outstanding at December 31, 2004. 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Celgene Corporation and its subsidiaries.

All inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated. The equity method of accounting is used

for the Company’s investment in EntreMed convertible voting preferred shares. Certain reclassifications have

been made to prior years’ financial statements in order to conform to the current year’s presentation. 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates

and assumptions that affect reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. The Company is subject to certain risks and uncertainties such as uncertainty of product

development, uncertainties regarding regulatory approval, no assurance of market acceptance of 

products, risk of product liability, uncertain scope of patent and proprietary rights, intense competition,

and rapid technological change. 

Cash Equivalents: At December 31, 2004 and 2003, cash equivalents consisted principally of 

highly liquid funds invested in commercial paper, money market funds, and U.S. government securities

such as treasury bills and notes. These instruments have maturities of three months or less when 

purchased and are stated at cost, which approximates market value because of the short maturity 

of these investments. 

1. Nature of Business
and Summary of 
Significant Accounting 
Policies
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Financial Instruments: Certain financial instruments reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets,

(e.g., cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, certain other assets, accounts payable and certain

other liabilities) are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. The fair values of financial instruments

other than marketable securities, which includes the EntreMed warrants that are classified in other 

non-current assets, are determined through a combination of management estimates and information

obtained from third parties using the latest market data. The fair value of marketable securities available

for sale is based on quoted market prices. 

Marketable Securities: The Company’s marketable securities are all classified as securities available for

sale in current assets and are carried at fair value. Such securities are held for an indefinite period of time

and are intended to be used to meet the ongoing liquidity needs of the Company. Unrealized gains and

losses (which are deemed to be temporary), if any, are reported in a separate component of stockholders’

equity. The cost of investments in debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion

of discounts to maturity. The amortization, along with realized gains and losses, is included in interest

income. The cost of securities is based on the specific identification method. 

A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other

than temporary results in a reduction in carrying amount to fair value. The impairment would be charged

to earnings and a new cost basis for the security is established. 

In September 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, delayed the effective date for the 

recognition and measurement guidance previously discussed under EITF Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning 

of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments.” The proposed 

statement will clarify the meaning of other-than-temporary impairment and its application to 

investments in debt and equity securities, in particular investments within the scope of FASB Statement

No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and investments accounted

for under the cost method. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of this proposed statement

on its consolidated financial position and results of operations. 

Premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted over the life of the related available-for-sale 

security as an adjustment to yield using the effective-interest method. Dividend and interest income 

are recognized when earned. 

The Company previously followed the common practice of classifying its investments in auction rate

notes as cash and cash equivalents on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. It was determined that these

instruments are not cash equivalents and therefore, the Company has made a reclassification to its

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2003 in order to conform to the current year’s presentation.

The reclassification resulted in a decrease in cash and cash equivalents and a corresponding increase in

marketable securities available for sale as of December 31, 2003 of approximately $207.1 million. The

reclassification resulted in a net decrease of $207.1 million in net cash provided by investing activities in

2003, which was comprised of the following components; an increase in the proceeds from the sale of

marketable securities of $229.2 million and an increase in the purchase of marketable securities of

approximately $436.3 million. The Company did not hold such securities in 2002. 

Concentration of Credit Risk: Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities are financial 

instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk. The Company invests 

its excess cash primarily in U.S. government agency securities and mortgage obligations and marketable

debt securities of financial institutions and corporations with strong credit ratings. In March 2004, the

Company converted a $12.0 million senior convertible note issued by Pharmion Corporation, plus accrued

interest of $0.7 million into 1,150,511 shares of Pharmion common stock. Additionally, in September

2004, warrants to purchase 789,089 shares of Pharmion common stock were exercised, resulting in a total

investment of 1,939,600 shares of Pharmion Corporation common stock. The Company has established

guidelines relative to diversification and maturities to maintain safety and liquidity. These guidelines are

reviewed periodically and may be modified to take advantage of trends in yields and interest rates. The

Company has the ability to sell these investments before maturity and has therefore classified the investments

as available for sale. The Company has not experienced any significant losses on its investments. 
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As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products primarily through 

wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion the Company’s

trade receivables and net product revenues. In light of this concentration, the Company continuously

monitors the creditworthiness of its customers and has internal policies regarding customer credit

limits. The Company estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the creditworthiness of its

customers as well as general economic conditions. An adverse change in those factors could affect the

Company’s estimate of its bad debts. 

Inventory: Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out, or FIFO,

method. 

Plant and Equipment: Plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of plant and equipment

is provided using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of fixed assets are as follows: 

Buildings 40 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Laboratory equipment and machinery 5 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Computer Equipment 3 years

Maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred, while renewals and improvements

are capitalized. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets: Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquired entity

over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. Under

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, or

SFAS 142, goodwill and intangible assets acquired in a purchase business combination and determined to

have an indefinite useful life are not amortized, but instead are tested for impairment at least annually in

accordance with the provisions of SFAS 142. SFAS 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable

useful lives be amortized to their estimated residual values over their respective estimated useful lives,

and reviewed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal 

of Long-Lived Assets”, or SFAS 144. 

Intangible assets are categorized as either a) supply agreements, b) supplier relationships, 

c) customer lists and d) technology. Amortization periods related to these categories are 13 years, 

5 years, 15 years and 10 years, respectively. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets: In accordance with SFAS No. 144, long-lived assets, such as property,

plant, and equipment, software costs and purchased intangibles subject to amortization are reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset

may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the

carrying amount of an asset to the estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated

by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated future cash flows, an impairment

charge is recognized by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the fair value of

the asset. Assets to be disposed of would be separately presented in the consolidated balance sheet and

reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are no longer depreciated.

The assets and liabilities of a disposed group classified as held for sale would be presented separately in

the appropriate asset and liability sections of the consolidated balance sheet. 

Business Combinations: SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”, or SFAS 141, requires that all business

combinations consummated after June 30, 2001 be accounted for using the purchase method of 

accounting. Under SFAS 141, the pooling-of-interests method of accounting for business combinations 

is no longer permitted. The Company’s acquisitions of Penn T Limited on October 21, 2004 and

Anthrogenesis Corp. on December 31, 2002, were accounted for using the purchase method. The 

acquisition of Signal Pharmaceuticals, Inc., which was completed on August 31, 2000, was accounted 

for using the pooling-of-interests method. 



50

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

Foreign Currency Translation: Operations in non-U. S. subsidiaries are generally recorded in local 

currencies which are also the functional currencies for financial reporting purposes. The results of 

operations for non-U. S. subsidiaries are translated from local currencies into U. S. dollars using the 

average currency rate during each period which approximates the results that would be obtained using

actual currency rates on the dates of individual transactions. Assets and liabilities are translated using

currency rates at the end of the period with translation adjustments recorded as a component of other

comprehensive income. Transaction gains and losses are recorded as incurred in other income (expense),

net in the Consolidated Statements of Income. 

Acquired In-Process Research and Development (“IPR&D”): The value assigned to acquired in-process

research and development is determined by identifying those acquired specific in-process research and

development projects that would be continued and for which (a) technological feasibility has not been

established at the acquisition date, (b) there is no alternative future use, and (c) the fair value is estimable

with reasonable reliability. Amounts assigned to IPR&D are charged to expense at the acquisition date. 

Research And Development Costs: All research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

These include all internal costs, external costs related to services contracted by the Company and research

services conducted for others. Research and development costs consist primarily of salaries and benefits,

contractor fees, clinical drug supplies for preclinical and clinical development programs, consumable

research supplies and allocated facility and administrative costs. 

Income Taxes: The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.

Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the

financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect

for years in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is provided when

it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. Research and

development tax credits will be recognized as a reduction of the provision for income taxes when realized. 

Revenue Recognition: Revenue from the sale of products is recognized upon product shipment.

Provisions for discounts for early payments, rebates and sales returns under terms customary in the

industry are provided for in the same period the related sales are recorded. Provisions recorded in 2004,

2003 and 2002 totaled approximately $54.5 million, $38.8 million and $16.1 million, respectively. Revenue

under research contracts is recorded as earned under the contracts, as services are provided. In accordance

with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 104 upfront nonrefundable fees associated with license

and development agreements where the Company has continuing involvement in the agreement, are

recorded as deferred revenue and recognized over the estimated service period. If the estimated service

period is subsequently modified, the period over which the up-front fee is recognized is modified 

accordingly on a prospective basis. 

SAB No. 104 updates the guidance in SAB No. 101 and requires companies to identify separate units

of accounting based on the consensus reached on Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 00-21, 

“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables”, or EITF 00-21. EITF 00-21 provides guidance on how

to determine when an arrangement that involves multiple revenue-generating activities or deliverables

should be divided into separate units of accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and if this division

is required, how the arrangement consideration should be allocated among the separate units of 

accounting. EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements entered into in quarters beginning after 

June 15, 2003. If the deliverables in a revenue arrangement constitute separate units of accounting

according to the EITF’s separation criteria, the revenue-recognition policy must be determined for each

identified unit. If the arrangement is a single unit of accounting, the revenue-recognition policy must be

determined for the entire arrangement. Prior to the adoption of EITF 00-21, revenues from the achievement

of research and development milestones, which represent the achievement of a significant step in the

research and development process, were recognized when and if the milestones were achieved. 

Continuation of certain contracts and grants are dependent upon the Company achieving specific

contractual milestones; however, none of the payments received to date are refundable regardless of 

the outcome of the project. Grant revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of the grant and 

as services are performed, and generally equals the related research and development expense. 
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Stock-Based Compensation: The Company applies the intrinsic value-based method of accounting 

prescribed by Accounting Principles Board, or APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,”

and related interpretations, in accounting for its fixed stock option plans. As such, compensation expense

for grants to employees or members of the Board of Directors would be recorded on the date of grant only

if the current market price of the Company’s stock exceeded the exercise price. SFAS No. 123, “Accounting

for Stock-Based Compensation”, or SFAS 123, as amended, establishes accounting and disclosure requirements

using a fair value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation plans. As permitted

under SFAS 123, the Company has elected to continue to apply the intrinsic value-based method of

accounting described above, and has adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123, as amended. 

If the exercise price of employee or director stock options is less than the fair value of the underlying

stock on the grant date, the Company amortizes such differences to expense over the vesting period of

the options. Options or stock awards issued to non-employees and consultants are recorded at fair value

as determined in accordance with SFAS 123 and EITF No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That

Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services,” and

expensed over the related vesting period. 

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment”, or SFAS 123R, that addresses the

accounting for share-based payment transactions in which employee services are received in exchange 

for either equity instruments of the company, liabilities that are based on the fair value of the company’s

equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of such equity instruments. SFAS No. 123R

addresses all forms of share-based payment awards, including shares issued under employee stock 

purchase plans, stock options, restricted stock and stock appreciation rights. SFAS No. 123R eliminates 

the ability to account for share-based compensation transactions using APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting

for Stock Issued to Employees”, that was provided in Statement 123 as originally issued. Instead, under

SFAS No. 123R companies are required to record compensation expense for all share based payment

award transactions measured at fair value. This statement is effective for quarters ending after June 15,

2005. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this statement.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share as if 

the fair value-based method under SFAS 123 had been applied. 

2004 2003 2002

As restated As restated

Net income (loss) $52,756 $25,693 $0(90,492)

Add stock-based employee compensation 

expense included in reported net income (loss) 250 250 1,515

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value-based method for all awards (26,027) (21,226) (19,616)

Pro forma $26,979 $04,717 $(108,593)

Net income (loss) per common share:

Basic $000.32 $000.16 $000(0.59)

Basic, pro forma 0.16 0.03 (0.70)

Diluted 0.31 0.15 (0.59)

Diluted, pro forma 0.16 0.03 (0.70)
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The pro forma effects on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per common share for 2004, 2003

and 2002 may not be representative of the pro forma effects in future years. 

The weighted-average fair value per share was $10.44, $7.27 and $4.07 for stock options granted 

in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The company estimated the fair values using the Black-Scholes

option-pricing model based on the following assumptions: 

2004 2003 2002

Risk-free interest rate 3.05% 2.39% 2.02%

Expected stock price volatility 47.4% 52.5% 58%

Expected term until exercise (years) 3.70 3.50 2.89

Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%

Earnings Per Share: Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss)

by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per

common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common

shares outstanding during the period increased to include all additional common shares that would have

been outstanding assuming potentially dilutive common shares had been issued and any proceeds thereof

used to repurchase common stock at the average market price during the period. The proceeds used to 

repurchase common stock are assumed to be the sum of the amount to be paid to the Company upon exercise

of options, the amount of compensation cost attributed to future services and not yet recognized and, if

applicable, the amount of income taxes that would be credited to or deducted from capital upon exercise. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss): Comprehensive income (loss), which represents the change in equity

from non-owner sources, consists of net income (losses), changes in currency translation adjustments 

and the change in net unrealized gains (losses) on marketable securities classified as available for sale.

Comprehensive income (loss) is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. 

Capitalized Software Costs: Capitalized software costs are capitalized in accordance with Statement

of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed and Obtained for Internal

Use, are included in other assets and are amortized over their estimated useful life of three years from 

the date the systems are ready for their intended use. 

Asset Retirement Obligations: On January 1, 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting

for Asset Retirement Obligations”, or SFAS 143. SFAS 143 addresses the financial accounting and reporting

for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset

retirement costs. SFAS 143 applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets

that result from the acquisition, construction, development and/or normal use of an asset. SFAS 143

requires that the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in

which it is incurred. The fair value of the liability is added to the carrying amount of the associated asset

and is depreciated over the life of the asset. The liability is accreted at the end of each period through

charges to operating expense. If the obligation is ultimately settled for an amount other than the carrying

amount of the liability, a gain or loss is recognized on settlement. In connection with its adoption of SFAS

143, the Company recorded an asset retirement liability of approximately $0.2 million relating to the

Company’s obligation to remove certain leasehold improvements at its Warren, New Jersey facility at the

end of the lease-term. The Company did not recognize a cumulative effect adjustment for this accounting

change because the amount was immaterial. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the asset retirement

liability was approximately $0.2 million. Accretion and depreciation expense for both the years ended

December 31, 2004 and 2003 was immaterial. 

New Accounting Principles: Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 03-01, “The Meaning of

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments,” or EITF 03-01, was issued

in February 2004. EITF 03-01 stipulates disclosure requirements for investments with unrealized losses

that have not been recognized as other-than-temporary impairments. The provisions of EITF 03-01 are
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effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2003. We have complied with the disclosure provisions

of EITF 03-01. In September 2004, the FASB staff issued two proposed FASB Staff Positions, or FSP:

Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-1-a, which provides guidance for the application of paragraph 16 of EITF Issue

03-1 to debt securities that are impaired because of interest rate and/or sector spread increases, and

Proposed FSP EITF Issue 03-1-b, which delays the effective date of Issue 03-1 for debt securities that are

impaired because of interests rate and/or sector spread increases. We are currently monitoring these

developments to assess the potential impact on our financial position and results of operations. 

EITF Issue No. 03-6, “Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method Under FASB Statement No.

128, Earnings Per Share.” In April 2004, the EITF issued Statement No. 03-6, “Participating Securities and

the Two-Class Method Under FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings Per Share.” EITF 03-6 addresses a number

of questions regarding the computation of earnings per share by a company that has issued securities

other than common stock that contractually entitle the holder to the right to participate in dividends

when, and if, declared. The issue also provides further guidance in applying the two-class method of 

calculating earnings per share, clarifying the definition of a participating security and how to apply the

two-class method. EITF 03-6 was effective for fiscal periods beginning after March 31, 2004 and was

required to be retroactively applied. We evaluated the terms of our convertible notes and debentures 

and determined that none of these instruments qualified as participating securities under the provisions

of EITF 03-6. As a result, the adoption of EITF 03-6 had no impact on the Company. 

EITF Issue No. 02-14, “Whether an Investor Should Apply the Equity Method of Accounting to

Investments Other Than Common Stock,” or EITF 02-14, is effective in the fourth quarter of 2004. EITF 02-

14 states that an investor should only apply the equity method of accounting when it has investments 

in either common stock or in-substance common stock. EITF 02-14 also provides characteristics to be 

evaluated in determining whether an investment in other than common stock is in-substance substantially

similar to an investment in that entity’s common stock and thus, accounted for under the equity method.

For investments that are not common stock or in-substance common stock, but were accounted for under

the equity method, EITF 02-14 requires discontinued use of the equity method of accounting prospectively

for reporting periods beginning after September 15, 2004. Previously recognized equity method earnings

and losses should not be reversed. 

Based on the above guidance, the Company concluded that its EntreMed voting preferred stock

investment, which had previously been written-down to zero under the equity method of accounting, 

was not in-substance common stock as defined in EITF 02-14 and therefore, discontinued use of the 

equity method of accounting beginning on October 1, 2004. Prospectively, the Company will account for

such investment under the cost method since the preferred stock is not publicly traded. This change does

not impact the carrying value of the EntreMed preferred stock investment and accordingly, did not have

an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Following a review in December 2004 of the Company’s accounting treatment for the convertible

preferred shares and warrants the Company received in connection with the December 31, 2002 litigation

settlement and related agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and the Children’s Medical Center Corporation, or

CMCC, it was determined that an adjustment to the Company’s consolidated financial statements was

required for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. On December 31, 2002, the Company paid

approximately $26.8 million in cash and acquired all related EntreMed thalidomide analog patents, 

terminated the litigation and received voting preferred shares convertible into 16,750,000 shares of

EntreMed common stock and warrants to purchase 7,000,000 shares of EntreMed common stock.

Recently Celgene exercised the warrants to purchase 7,000,000 EntreMed common shares at an exercise

price of $1.50 per share or $10,500,000.

Based on what the Company believed was the appropriate accounting treatment under generally

accepted accounting principles, it wrote off the entire $26.8 million at December 31, 2002 which related

to the convertible preferred shares, the warrants and the litigation settlement, and did not recognize any

2. Restatement of
Financial Statements
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gains or losses on the warrants during 2003 and 2004. This accounting treatment was based on multiple

reasons including: (1) EntreMed’s financial condition and its continuing losses; (2) the fact that the

Company included the warrants along with the convertible preferred shares investment in applying the

equity method of accounting, under which it wrote off the entire investment in December 2002; and (3)

the Company’s concern over the fair value of the warrants given the significant number of shares underlying

the warrants and, the Company’s concern about the inability to convert the underlying shares into cash

(even if the warrants were to be net share settled) without significantly affecting EntreMed’s stock price. 

Upon further review of the warrant terms, as well as the accounting treatment prescribed under

SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”, or SFAS 133, and related

Derivative Implementation Group, or DIG, interpretations, the Company has concluded that the warrants

should be accounted for as a derivative instrument and carried on the balance sheet at fair value, with

changes in fair value recorded through earnings. 

In addition the Company reviewed the impairment of the investment in the EntreMed voting pre-

ferred shares. The Company has concluded that the investment should not have been fully written down

as of the date of the transaction. Accordingly the Company restored the investment of $4.4 million as of

December 31, 2002 and reduced the net loss by a like amount. Under the equity method of accounting,

the Company recorded its share of the EntreMed losses in 2003 until the investment was written down 

to zero in the third quarter of 2003. 

The Company has now restated its financial statements. The cumulative effect of the restatement

through December 31, 2003 is an increase in other assets of $21.7 million and a decrease in accumulated

deficit, of $21.7 million. Equity losses in associated companies of $4.4 million were recorded for the year

ended December 31, 2003. Interest and other income increased by $16.6 million for the year ended

December 31, 2003 and litigation settlement and related agreements expense decreased by $9.5 million

for the year ended December 31, 2002. Previously reported diluted earnings per share increased by $0.07

and $0.06 for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The restatement did not have

any impact on previously reported total revenues, 2003 reported net cash flows or 2003 operating loss. 

The following is a summary of the impact of the Restatement on (i) the Company’s Consolidated

Balance Sheet at December 31, 2003 and (ii) its Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years ended

December 31, 2003 and 2002. In 2002 net cash provided by operating activities increased by $9.5 million

and net cash provided by investing activities decreased by $9.5 million. The 2003 operating and investing

cash flows were not impacted. 

Previously

In thousands, except per share data Reported Adjustments As Restated

Year ended December 31, 2003:

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Interest and other income $21,795 $16,574 $38,369

Equity losses in associated companies — 4,392 4,392

Income before income taxes 13,479 12,182 25,661

Income from continuing operations 12,761 12,182 24,943

Net income 13,511 12,182 25,693

Per share:

Income from continuing operations - Basic 0.08 0.07 0.15

Income from continuing operations - Diluted 0.07 0.07 0.14

Net income - Basic 0.08 0.08 0.16

Net income - Diluted 0.08 0.07 0.15

Consolidated Balance Sheet:

Other assets $32,506 $21,690 $54,196

Total assets 791,336 21,690 813,026

Accumulated deficit (308,856) 21,690 (287,166)

Total stockholders’ equity 310,054 21,690 331,744
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Year ended December 31, 2002:

Consolidated Statement of Operations:

Litigation settlement and related agreements $32,212 $(9,508) $22,704

Total expenses 259,875 (9,508) 250,367

Operating loss (124,129) 9,508 (114,621)

Loss before income taxes (101,098) 9,508 (91,590)

Loss from continuing operations (101,000) 9,508 (91,492)

Net loss (100,000) 9,508 (90,492)

Per share:

Loss from continuing operations - Basic (0.65) 0.05 (0.60)

Loss from continuing operations - Diluted (0.65) 0.05 (0.60)

Net loss - Basic (0.65) 0.06 (0.59)

Net loss - Diluted (0.65) 0.06 (0.59)

Refer to Note 20 (unaudited) for the impact of the restatement on the 2004 and 2003 quarterly 

information. In addition, certain prior year amounts in Notes 1, 3, 4, 5, 9, 17, 19 and 20 have been 

restated to reflect the restatement adjustments described above. 

Penn T Limited: On October 21, 2004, the Company, through an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,

acquired all of the outstanding shares of Penn T Limited, or Penn T, a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®,

from a consortium of private investors for a US dollar equivalency of approximately $117.4 million in

cash, net of cash acquired and including working capital adjustments and total estimated transaction

costs. The cash consideration was determined by the parties in arms-length negotiations. As of December

31, 2004 approximately $109.9 million of the total consideration had been paid utilizing existing cash and

cash equivalents. The remaining $7.5 million, which relates to the working capital adjustment payable to

the former Penn T investors and additional transaction costs, is expected to be paid in early 2005. Penn T

was subsequently renamed Celgene UK Manufacturing II, Limited, or CUK II. The results of CUK II after

October 21, 2004 are included in the consolidated financial statements. 

Prior to the acquisition, Celgene and Penn T were parties to a manufacturing agreement pursuant to

which Penn T manufactured THALOMID® for Celgene. Through a manufacturing agreement entered into

in connection with the acquisition, the Company is able to control manufacturing for THALOMID® worldwide

and increases its participation in the potential growth of THALOMID® opportunities in key international

markets. This acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting for business 

combinations. The purchase price allocation resulted in the following amounts being allocated to the

assets received and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date based upon their respective fair values. 

(Thousands) October 21, 2004

Current assets $016,855

Intangible assets 99,841

Goodwill 35,812

Assets Acquired 152,508

Current liabilities 1,983

Deferred taxes 33,144

Liabilities assumed 35,127

Net assets acquired $117,381

3. Acquisitions and
Dispositions
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The initial purchase price allocations may be adjusted within one year of the purchase date for

changes in the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The intangible assets 

consist principally of a product supply agreement that is being amortized over its useful life, which is 

13 years. The resulting goodwill and intangible assets have been assigned to the Company’s Human

Pharmaceuticals operating segment. 

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of consolidated results of 

operations for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 as if the acquisition of Penn T had occurred

on January 1, 2004 and January 1, 2003, respectively. The unaudited pro forma results of operations is

presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that

would have occurred if the transaction had been consummated at the date indicated, nor is it necessarily

indicative of future operating results of the combined companies and should not be construed as 

representative of these amounts for any future dates or periods. 

Pro forma (unaudited) 2004 2003

Total revenues $394,097 $283,162

Net income 56,661 25,673

Net income per diluted share $0000.33 $0000.15

The unaudited pro forma information for both years excludes adjustments relating to the inventory

step-up to fair value of $3.2 million and a receivable of $7.4 million attributable to the pre-acquisition

period for inventory already shipped for which the Company will now receive an additional payment. 

The unaudited pro forma information for both years also includes adjustments to reflect the amortization

of intangible assets resulting from the acquisition. 

Anthrogenesis Acquisition: On December 31, 2002, the Company completed its acquisition of

Anthrogenesis Corp. for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $60.0 million. Anthrogenesis is a

biotherapeutics company developing processes for the recovery of stem cells from human placental tissue

following the completion of a successful full-term pregnancy that now operates as Celgene Cellular

Therapeutics, or CCT. In the transaction, the Company issued 1,455,381 shares of common stock on a pre

October 2004 stock split basis valued at $31.2 million and 1,247,203 stock options, also on a pre stock

split basis and warrants valued at $16.7 million in exchange for all the outstanding shares, options and

warrants of Anthrogenesis. The share conversion equated to an exchange ratio of 0.4545 of a share of

Celgene common stock for each share of Anthrogenesis common stock outstanding. The Anthrogenesis

stock options and warrants were converted at the same exchange ratio. Also included in the purchase

price was an outstanding convertible loan of $8.5 million due to the Company from Anthrogenesis, 

bearing interest at prime plus 2%, and $3.6 million of acquisition related costs, which consisted of 

transaction fees for financial advisors, attorneys, accountants and other related charges. 

The acquisition of Anthrogenesis was structured as a tax-free reorganization under Section 368(a) 

of the Internal Revenue Code and was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting for 

business combinations. The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31, 2002

include the net assets and liabilities of Anthrogenesis. In-process research and development activities

totaling approximately $55.7, were charged to operations at the acquisition date. 

The following unaudited pro forma information presents a summary of consolidated results of 

operations for the year ended December 31, 2002 as if the acquisition of Anthrogenesis had occurred on

January 1, 2002. The unaudited pro forma net loss and net loss per share amounts include a charge for in-

process research and development of approximately $55.7 million, which was expensed at the acquisition

date and also includes an adjustment to reflect amortization of intangibles recorded in conjunction with

the acquisition. The unaudited pro forma results of operations is presented for illustrative purposes only

and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results that would have occurred if the transaction had

been consummated at the date indicated, nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results of the

combined companies and should not be construed as representative of these amounts for any future dates

or periods. Anthrogenesis’ results of operations included in the following pro forma financial information

are derived from their unaudited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002. 
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Pro forma (unaudited) 2002

Total revenues $138,000

Net loss (108,505)

Net loss per share $00,(0.70)

Disposition Of Chiral Intermediates Business: In January 1998, the Company completed the sale of its

chiral intermediate business to Cambrex Corporation. The Company received $7.5 million upon the closing

of the transaction and is entitled to future royalties, with a present value not exceeding $7.5 million 

and certain minimum royalty payments due in 2000 through 2003. Included in the transaction were 

the rights to Celgene’s enzymatic technology for the production of chirally pure intermediates for the 

pharmaceutical industry, including the pipeline of third party products and the equipment and personnel

associated with the business. Pursuant to the minimum royalty provision of the agreement, the Company

received approximately $0.8 million and $1.0 million during 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

2004 2003 2002

As restated As restated

Income (Numerator):

Income (loss) from continuing operations $52,756 $24,943 $(91,492)

Discontinued Operations - gain on sale of chiral assets — 750 1,000

Net income (loss) $52,756 $25,693 $(90,492)

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares 

Outstanding (Denominator):

Basic: 163,869 161,774 154,674

Effect of dilutive securities:

Options 8,531 8,740 —

Warrants 218 186 —

Restricted shares and other long-term incentives 237 96 —

Diluted: 172,855 170,796 154,674

Earnings Per Share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations

Basic $000.32 $000.15 $00(0.60)

Diluted $000.31 $000.14 $00(0.60)

Discontinued Operations - gain on sale of chiral assets

Basic $000,— $000.01 $00(0.01

Diluted $000,— $000.01 $00(0.01

Net income (loss)

Basic $000.32 $000.16 $00(0.59)

Diluted $000.31 $000.15 $00(0.59)

The assumed conversion or exercise of all potentially dilutive common shares is not included in the

diluted loss per share computation for 2002 since the Company recognized a net loss for that period and

including potentially dilutive common shares in the diluted earnings per share computation when there is

a net loss will result in an anti-dilutive per share amount. The potential common shares related to the

convertible notes issued June 3, 2003 (see Note 10) were anti-dilutive and were excluded from the diluted

earnings per share computation for the years 2004 and 2003. The total number of potential common

shares excluded from the diluted earnings per share computation because their inclusion would have

been anti-dilutive was 20,843,378, 21,128,720 and 22,092,542 in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

4. Earnings Per
Share (EPS)
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On December 31, 2002, the Company entered into a series of agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and

Children’s Medical Center Corporation, or CMCC, terminating ongoing litigation relating to patents for

thalidomide analogs and directly granting to the Company, an exclusive license issued by CMCC for the

rights to those patents. Under the terms of an asset purchase agreement with EntreMed, the Company

paid EntreMed $10.0 million for all thalidomide analog patents and associated clinical data and records,

and the termination of any litigation surrounding those patents. Under the terms of a securities purchase

agreement with EntreMed, the Company acquired from EntreMed 3,350,000 shares of Series A

Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase an additional 7,000,000 common shares for an

aggregate cash consideration of approximately $16.8 million. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is

convertible, at the option of the Company, into an aggregate of 16,750,000 shares of common stock at

an initial conversion price of $1.00 per share provided, however, that the conversion price in effect from

time to time shall be subject to certain adjustments. Dividends are payable prior and in preference to 

the declaration or payment of any dividend or distribution to the holders of common stock. The Company

shall have the right to one vote for each share of Common Stock into which such share of Series A

Convertible Preferred Stock could then be converted and with respect to such vote the Company shall

have full voting rights and powers equal to the voting rights and powers of the holders of shares of

Common Stock. After assessing the level of the Company’s ownership interest in EntreMed and the 

fact that EntreMed is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company engaged primarily in research and

development activities with proposed products and research programs in the early stage of clinical 

development, a charge of $7.2 million was recorded for in-process research and development. As restated,

the Company ascribed a value of $11.6 million to the convertible preferred stock of which $4.4 million

was recorded as an investment in associated companies at December 31, 2002. 

The warrants have an exercise price of $1.50 per share, vest after six months from the date of grant

and expire after seven years from the date of grant. The warrants also include a net settlement feature

and as discussed in Note 2, it was subsequently determined that they should be accounted for as a 

derivative. The Company has ascribed a value of $5.1 million to the warrants as of December 31, 2002,

which represents their estimated fair value at such date. 

The Company signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC that terminated any existing

thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly granted to Celgene an 

exclusive worldwide license for the analog patents. The Company paid CMCC $2.5 million in December

2002 and $0.5 million in January 2004 under the agreement. Another $2.0 million is payable between

2005 and 2006. The present value of these payments totaled $4.7 million and was expensed in 2002.

Additionally, the Company entered into a five year sponsored research agreement with CMCC whereby

the Company has committed $0.3 million per year in funding. Additional payments are possible under 

the agreement depending on the successful development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

Celgene recorded a charge to earnings for the cost of these agreements and related expenses of

$22.7 million in 2002 including the write-down of the EntreMed Convertible Preferred Stock to our residual

equity interest in EntreMed and certain legal expenses incurred in connection with the settlement. 

5. Litigation
Settlement and
Related Agreements



59

C e l g e n e  C o r p o r a t i o n

The amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains, gross unrealized holding losses and estimated

fair value of available-for-sale securities by major security type and class of security at December 31, 2004

and 2003, was as follows: 
Gross Gross Estimated

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2004 Cost Gain Loss Value

Government agencies 

mortgage obligations $166,959 $   1,107 $   (904) $167,162

Government agency bonds and notes 798 — (7) 791

Corporate debt securities 147,864 2,723 (650) 149,937

Auction rate notes 213,550 — — 213,550

Marketable equity securities 20,212 61,658 — 81,870

$549,383 $65,488 $(1,561) $613,310

Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2003 Cost Gain Loss Value

Government agencies 

mortgage obligations $188,319 $   1,053 $ (186) $189,186

Government agency bonds and notes 650 1 (5) 646

Auction rate notes 207,125 — — 207,125

Corporate debt securities 199,933 9,977 (228) 209,682

$596,027 $11,031 $ (419) $606,639

The fair value of available-for-sale securities with unrealized losses at December 31, 2004 was as follows:

Less Than 12 Months 12 Months Or Longer Total

Estimated Gross Estimated Gross Estimated Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized

December 31, 2004 Value Loss Value Loss Value Loss

Government agencies mortgage

obligations $55,279 $(0(648) $16,635 $(256) $71,914 $0,(904)

Government agency bonds

and notes 641 (7) 641 (7)

Corporate debt securities 26,595 (650) 26,595 (650)

$82,515 $(1,305) $16,635 $(256) $99,150 $(1,561)

Unrealized losses were due to changes in interest rates and are deemed to be temporary. 

Maturities of debt securities classified as available-for-sale were as follows at December 31, 2004: 

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Due within one year $288,320 $288,542

Due after one year through three years 111,063 112,424

Due after three years through five years 31,778 31,895

Due after five years through seven years 80,717 80,862

Due after seven years 17,293 17,717

$529,171 $531,440

6. Marketable
Securities
Available for Sale
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Inventory at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following: 

2004 2003

Raw materials $04,081 $3,009

Work in process 4,356 2,537

Finished goods 15,967 4,150

$24,404 $9,696

Plant and equipment at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following: 

2004 2003

Land $09,884 $0 —

Buildings 15,474 —

Laboratory equipment and machinery 22,955 18,977

Leasehold improvements 13,659 11,688

Computer equipment 5,570 4,986

Furniture and fixtures 3,865 3,124

Leased equipment 696 696

Construction in progress 63 1,017

72,166 40,488

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization 24,847 17,942

$47,319 $22,546

In November 2004, the Company purchased 45 acres of land and several buildings located in

Summit, New Jersey at a cost of approximately $25.0 million. The purchase of this site enables the

Company to consolidate four New Jersey locations into one corporate headquarters and provide the 

room to accommodate the Company’s expected growth. 

Accrued expenses at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following: 
2004 2003

Professional and consulting fees $02,026 $02,451

Accrued compensation 15,783 18,383

Accrued interest, royalties and license fees 12,840 9,470

Accrued sales returns 9,600 8,368

Accrued rebates and chargebacks 9,255 5,089

Accrued acquisition related costs 8,010 —

Accrued clinical trial costs 7,440 9,182

Accrued insurance and taxes 1,882 1,227

Other 1,698 1,106

$68,534 $55,276

8. Plant and
Equipment

9. Other Financial 
Information

7. Inventory
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Other assets at December 31, 2004 and 2003 consisted of the following: 
2004 2003

As restated

EntreMed warrants $19,768 $21,690

Pharmion convertible note — 12,000

Debt issuance costs 8,347 10,790

Long-term investments 7,000 —

Capitalized software costs, net 6,420 4,490

Long-term deposits 1,495 2,293

Patent rights and licensed technology, net 669 765

Other 1,569 2,168

$45,268 $54,196

Included in interest and other income are unrealized gains (losses) relating to the EntreMed warrants

of $(1.9) million and $16.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

Equity in losses of associated companies was $4.4 million in 2003, which represented the company’s 

share of EntreMed losses. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the EntreMed convertible preferred stock

investment had a carrying value of zero. 

In June 2003, the Company issued an aggregate principal amount of $400.0 million of unsecured

convertible notes to qualified institutional investors. The notes have a five-year term and a coupon rate of

1.75% payable semi-annually commencing December 1, 2003. The convertible notes have a conversion

rate of $24.225 per share, which represented a 50% premium to the closing price of the Company’s common

stock of $16.15, after adjusting prices for the two-for-one stock split effected on October 22, 2004, on

May 28, 2003. The debt issuance costs related to these convertible notes, which totaled approximately $12.2

million, are classified under “Other Assets” on the Consolidated Balance Sheet and are being amortized

over five years, assuming no conversion. Under the terms of the purchase agreement, the noteholders can

convert the notes at any time into 16,511,840 shares of common stock at the conversion price. In addition,

the noteholders have the right to require the Company to redeem the notes in cash at a price equal to 100%

of the principal amount to be redeemed, plus accrued interest, prior to maturity in the event of a change

of control and certain other transactions defined as a “fundamental change”, within the agreement. The

Company has registered the notes and common stock issuable upon conversion of the notes with the

Securities and Exchange Commission, and is required to use reasonable best efforts to keep the related

registration statement effective for the defined period. Pursuant to the indenture governing the notes,

the Company may not merge or transfer substantially all of its assets, as defined, unless certain 

conditions are met. 

At December 31, 2004, the fair value of the Company’s convertible notes exceeded the carrying value

of $400.0 million by approximately $117.0 million. 

During 2002, the remaining notes outstanding related to the Company’s January 1999 and July 1999

convertible debt issuances, which had an aggregate carrying value of $11.7 million were converted into

3,729,098 shares of the Company’s common stock. 

Goodwill: At December 31, 2004, goodwill was approximately $41.3 million of which approximately

$35.8 million related to the October 21, 2004 acquisition of Penn T Limited, $2.5 million resulted from 

foreign currency translation of the Penn T related goodwill amounts and $3.0 million related to the

December 31, 2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. At December 31, 2003, goodwill was approximately

$3.5 million all of which related to the December 31, 2002 acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. 

11. Goodwill and
Intangible Assets

10. Convertible Debt
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Intangible Assets: The Company’s intangible assets by major asset class at December 31, 2004 and

2003 were as follows: 

2004 2003

Gross Cumulative Intangible Gross Intangible
carrying Accumulated translation assets, carrying Accumulated assets,

value amortization Adjustment net value amortization net

Penn T acquisition:

Supply agreements $099,841 $0(75) $6,802 $106,568 $      — $    — $      —

Anthrogenesis

acquisition:

Supplier

relationships 710 (284) — 426 710 (142) 568

Customer lists 1,700 (227) — 1,473 1,700 (113) 1,587

Technology 609 (121) — 488 600 (60) 540

Total $102,860 $(707) $6,802 $108,955 $3,010 $(315) $2,695

Amortization of intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2004 was approximately $0.4

million. Assuming no changes in the gross carrying amount of intangible assets, the amortization of

intangible assets for the next five fiscal years is estimated to be approximately $8.9 million for the years

2005 and 2006, $8.6 million for $2007 and $8.4 million for 2008 and 2009. 

Goodwill and intangible assets from the Penn T and Anthrogenesis acquisitions have been allocated

to the Company’s Human Pharmaceuticals and Stem Cell Therapy segments, respectively. 

Prior to the Company’s acquisition of Anthrogenesis on December 31, 2002, two senior executives of

the Company served on the Board of Directors of Anthrogenesis. In December 2001, the Company entered

into a development agreement with Anthrogenesis for a period of one year which required Anthrogenesis

to perform certain development work on several of the Company’s compounds. The Company recorded a

development fee of $0.3 million, which was amortized over the term of the agreement. 

Preferred Stock: The Board of Directors is authorized to issue, at any time, without further stockholder

approval, up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, and to determine the price, rights, privileges, and

preferences of such shares. 

Common Stock: During 2004, the Company initiated a two-for-one common stock split effected on

October 22, 2004, which increased the number of authorized shares of common stock to 275,000,000

with a par value of $.01 per share, of which 165,068,634 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2004. 

Treasury Stock: During 2004, the Company repurchased 10,564 shares of its common stock adjusted

for the two-for-one stock split at a cost of $0.3 million. 

12. Related Party
Transactions

13. Stockholders’ 
Equity
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A summary of changes in common stock issued and treasury stock is presented below: 

Common Stock
Balance December 31, Common Stock in Treasury

2001 75,574,785 (282)

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,246,600

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 35,398 1,160

Purchase of treasury stock — (878)

Conversion of long-term convertible notes 1,864,549

Shares issued pursuant to Anthrogenesis Acquisition 1,455,381

2002 80,176,713 —

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,105,074

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 129,268

2003 81,411,055 —

Exercise of stock options and warrants 1,300,297

Issuance of common stock for employee benefit plans 98,215

Purchase of treasury stock — (5,282)

Issuance of common stock related to 2:1 stock split 82,269,631 (5,282)

2004 165,079,198 (10,564)

Rights Plan: During 1996, the Company adopted a shareholder rights plan, or Rights Plan. The Rights

Plan involves the distribution of one Right as a dividend on each outstanding share of the Company’s

common stock to each holder of record on September 26, 1996. Each Right shall entitle the holder to 

purchase one-tenth of a share of common stock. The Rights trade in tandem with the common stock until,

and are exercisable upon, certain triggering events, and the exercise price is based on the estimated 

long-term value of the Company’s common stock. In certain circumstances, the Rights Plan permits the

holders to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a discounted rate. The Company’s Board of

Directors retains the right at all times prior to acquisition of 15% of the Company’s voting common stock

by an acquiror, to discontinue the Rights Plan through the redemption of all rights or to amend the Rights

Plan in any respect. On February 17, 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved an amendment to

the Rights Plan changing the initial exercise price thereunder from $100.00 per Right (as defined in the

original Rights Plan agreement) to $700.00 per Right and extending the final expiration date of the Rights

Plan to February 17, 2010. On August 13, 2003, the Rights Plan was amended to permit a qualified 

institutional investor to beneficially own up to 17% of the Company’s common stock outstanding without

being deemed an “acquiring person,” if such institutional investor meets certain requirements. 

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Awards: The Company has two equity incentive plans, or the

Incentive Plans, that provide for the granting of options, restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights,

performance awards and other stock-based awards to employees and officers of the Company to purchase

not more than an aggregate of 8,400,000 shares of common stock under the 1992 plan and 25,000,000

shares of common stock under the 1998 plan, as amended, subject to adjustment under certain circumstances.

The Management Compensation and Development Committee of the Board of Directors, or the

Compensation Committee, determines the type, amount and terms, including vesting, of any awards

made under the Incentive Plans. The 1992 Plan terminated in 2002 and the 1998 Plan will terminate in 2008.

With respect to options granted under the Incentive Plans, the exercise price may not be less than

the market price of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, options granted under the

Incentive Plans vest over periods ranging from immediate vesting to four-year vesting and expire ten

14. Stock-Based
Compensation
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years from the date of grant, subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment. The 

vesting period for options and restricted stock awards granted under the Plans is subject to certain 

acceleration provisions if a change in control, as defined in the Plans, occurs. 

As a result of the Signal acquisition, the Company assumed the former Signal stock option plans. The

options issued pursuant to the former Signal plans converted into Celgene options upon consummation

of the transaction at a .1257-for-1 exchange ratio, on a pre-October 2004 stock split basis. No additional

options will be granted from the former Signal plans. 

As a result of the acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the former Anthrogenesis

Qualified Employee Incentive Stock Option Plan and the Anthrogenesis Non-Qualified Recruiting and

Retention Stock Option Plan. Options granted under the Anthrogenesis plans prior to Celgene’s 

acquisition of Anthrogenesis generally vested immediately and expire ten years from the date of grant.

The Anthrogenesis options converted into Celgene options at an exchange ratio of .4545 on a pre-October

2004 stock split basis. No future awards will be granted under the Non-Qualified Plan. The Qualified Plan

authorizes the award of incentive stock options, which are stock options that qualify for special federal

income tax treatment. The exercise price of any stock options granted under the Qualified Plan may not

be less than the fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant. In general, options granted

under the Qualified Plan vest evenly over a four-year period and expire ten years from the date of grant,

subject to earlier expiration in case of termination of employment. The vesting period is subject to certain

acceleration provisions if a change in control occurs. No award will be granted under the Qualified Plan 

on or after December 31, 2008. 

Stock options granted to executives at the vice-president level and above, after September 18, 2000,

contain a reload feature which provides that if (1) the optionee exercises all or any portion of the stock

option (a) at least six months prior to the expiration of the stock option, (b) while employed by the

Company and (c) prior to the expiration date of the 1998 Incentive Plan and (2) the optionee pays the

exercise price for the portion of the stock option exercised or pays applicable withholding taxes by using

common stock owned by the optionee for at least six months prior to the date of exercise, the optionee

shall be granted a new stock option under the 1998 Incentive Plan on the date all or any portion of the

stock option is exercised to purchase the number of shares of common stock equal to the number of

shares of common stock exchanged by the optionee to exercise the stock option or to pay withholding

taxes thereon. The reload stock option will be exercisable on the same terms and conditions as apply to

the original stock option except that (x) the reload stock option will become exercisable in full on the day

which is six months after the date the original stock option is exercised, (y) the exercise price shall be the

fair market value (as defined in the 1998 Incentive Plan) of the common stock on the date the reload

stock option is granted and (z) the expiration of the reload stock option will be the date of expiration of

the original stock option. An optionee may not reload the reload stock option unless otherwise permitted

by the Company’s Compensation Committee. As of December 31, 2004, the Company has issued

5,438,150 stock options to executives that contain the reload features noted above, of which 5,059,526

are still outstanding. 

In June 1995, the stockholders of the Company approved the 1995 Non-Employee Directors’

Incentive Plan, which, as amended, provides for the granting of non-qualified stock options to purchase

an aggregate of not more than 1,800,000 shares of common stock (subject to adjustment under certain

circumstances) to directors of the Company who are not officers or employees of the Company, or 

Non-Employee Directors. Each new Non-Employee Director, upon the date of election or appointment,

receives an option to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock, which vest in four equal annual installments

commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant. Additionally, upon the date of each annual

meeting of stockholders, each continuing Non-Employee Director receives an option to purchase 10,000

shares of common stock (or a pro rata portion thereof for service less than one year), which vest in full 

on the date of the first annual meeting of stockholders held following the date of grant. As amended in

2003, continuing Non-Employee Directors receive quarterly grants of 2,500 options aggregating 10,000

options annually, instead of receiving one annual grant of 10,000 options and vesting occurs one year
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from the date of grant instead of on the date of the first annual meeting of stockholders held following

the date of grant. The 1995 Non-Employee Directors’ Incentive Plan also provides for a discretionary 

grant upon the date of each annual meeting of an additional option to purchase up to 5,000 shares to a

non-employee director who serves as a member (but not a chairman) of a committee of the Board of

Directors and up to 10,000 shares to a non-employee director who serves as the chairman of a committee

of the Board of Directors. All options are granted at an exercise price that equals the fair market value 

of the Company’s common stock at the grant date and expire ten years after the date of grant. This plan

terminates in 2005.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity for the aforementioned Plans: 

Shares Options outstanding

available Weighted average
Balance December 31, for grant Shares exercise price per share

2001 3,877,934 7,296,928 $22.80

Expired (73,706) — —

Granted (3,204,884) 3,204,884 21.13

Exercised — (279,117) 5.58

Cancelled 423,627 (423,627) 30.19

Repurchases 721 — —

Assumed on acquisition 137,031 1,030,364 11.37

2002 1,160,723 10,829,432 $21.37

Authorized 4,000,000 — —

Expired (308,857) — —

Granted (2,424,027) 2,424,027 36.60

Exercised — (1,041,618) 10.69

Cancelled 172,826 (200,092) 26.78

2003 2,600,665 12,011,749 $25.28

Stock Split Impact on 2003 2,600,665 11,324,297 —

Granted (4,073,768) 4,073,768 27.36

Exercised — (1,300,297) 7.99

Cancelled 793,837 (844,799) 19.27

2004 1,921,399 25,264,718 $15.15

The following table summarizes information concerning options outstanding under the Incentive

Plans at December 31, 2004: 

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average

Range of Number exercise remaining Number exercise
exercise prices outstanding price term (yrs.) exercisable price

$$0.07 -$1.75 953,542 $01.11 3.0 953,542 $01.11

$$1.76 -$3.00 3,664,840 2.60 3.5 3,664,840 2.60

$$3.01 - 12.00 4,752,642 8.72 7.2 4,633,542 8.66

$12.01 - 15.00 5,401,240 12.99 6.2 5,139,878 13.01

$15.01 - 24.75 5,117,064 19.62 8.4 5,007,339 19.60

$24.76 - 35.00 5,375,390 29.78 8.0 5,000,240 29.80

25,264,718 $15.15 6.7 24,399,381 $14.95
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The Company recorded compensation expense of $1.3 million in 2002 related to options granted

under the former Signal plans at exercise prices below the market price of the underlying stock at the

date of grant. 

During 2001, the Company issued to certain employees an aggregate of 105,000 restricted stock

awards. Such restricted stock awards will vest on September 19, 2006, unless certain conditions that

would trigger accelerated vesting are otherwise met prior to such date. The fair value of these restricted

stock awards at the grant date was $1.4 million, which is being amortized as compensation expense over

the contractual vesting period and classified in selling, general and administrative expenses. The

Company recorded compensation expense relating to these restricted stock awards of $0.3 million during

each of 2004, 2003 and 2002, which was classified as selling, general and administrative expenses. 

Former non-employee directors of Signal, who entered into consulting agreements with Celgene

effective August 31, 2000, held unvested stock options to purchase an aggregate of 72,914 shares of the

Company’s common stock. As a result, the Company recorded compensation expense based on the fair

value of such options, which is being recognized over the remaining vesting period for such options.

During 2004, 2003 and 2002 the Company recorded compensation expense relating to stock, stock

options or warrants issued to consultants, advisors or financial institutions of $0.1 million, $0.5 million

and $0.2 million, respectively. 

Warrants: In connection with its acquisition of Anthrogenesis, the Company assumed the

Anthrogenesis warrants outstanding, which were converted into warrants to purchase 433,678 shares 

of the Company’s common stock. Anthrogenesis had issued warrants to investors at exercise prices 

equivalent to the per share price of their investment. As of December 31, 2004, Celgene had 212,042 

warrants outstanding to acquire an equivalent number of shares of Celgene common stock at an average

exercise price of $5.90 per warrant. 

In connection with the placement of the Series B Convertible Preferred Stock in June 1997, the

Company issued warrants to purchase 3,115,380 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $1.250

per share with a term of four years from the issuance date, which ended on June 1, 2002. In May 2002,

the remaining 1,935,386 warrants were exercised and the equivalent number of common shares were

issued. As of December 31, 2002, there were no warrants outstanding. 

The Company sponsors an investment savings plan, which qualifies under Section 401(k) of the

Internal Revenue Code, as amended. The Company’s contributions to the savings plan are discretionary

and have historically been made in the form of the Company’s common stock. Such contributions are

based on specified percentages of employee contributions and aggregated a total expense charged to

operations of $3.5 million in 2004, $4.2 million in 2003 and $2.9 million in 2002. 

During 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a deferred compensation plan effective

September 1, 2000. Eligible participants, which include certain top-level executives of the Company as

specified by the plan, can elect to defer up to 25% of the participant’s base salary, 100% of cash bonuses

and restricted stock and stock options gains (both subject to a minimum deferral of 50% of each award of

restricted stock or stock option gain approved by the Committee for deferral). Company contributions to

the deferred compensation plan represent a 100% match of the participant’s deferral up to a specified

percentage (ranging from 10% to 25%, depending on the employee’s position as specified in the plan) of

the participant’s base salary. The Company recorded expense of $0.8 million, $0.6 million and $0.3 million

associated with the matching of the deferral of compensation in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. All

amounts are 100% vested at all times, except with respect to restricted stock, which will not be vested

until the date the applicable restrictions lapse. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had a

deferred compensation liability included in other non-current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets

of approximately $8.8 million and $5.5 million, respectively, which included the participant’s elected

deferral of salaries and bonuses, the Company’s matching contribution and earnings on deferred amounts

as of that date. The plan provides participants eight investment options for amounts they elect to defer. 

15. Employee 
Benefit Plans
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Such options include a combination of funds that offer the investor the option to spread their risk

across a diverse group of investments. These investment choices include an equity and equity index fund,

a bond fund, a fund that is balanced between equities and bonds, a fund that invests worldwide, a

growth fund and a fund that invests in mid to large cap companies and seeks capital appreciation. 

In 2003, the Company adopted a Long-Term Incentive Plan, or LTIP designed to provide key officers

and executives with performance based incentive opportunities contingent upon achievement of

pre-established corporate performance objectives, and payable only if employed at the end of the 

performance cycle. The 2003 performance cycle began on May 1, 2003 and ends on December 31, 2005, 

or the 2005 Plan. The 2004 performance cycle began on January 1, 2004 and will end on December 31,

2006, or the 2006 Plan. Performance measures for the 2005 Plan and the 2006 Plan are based on the 

following components: 25% on earnings per share, 25% on net income and 50% on revenue. 

Payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% of the participant’s salary for the 2005 Plan and 0% to

150% of the participant’s salary for the 2006 Plan. The maximum potential payout, assuming objectives

are achieved at the 200% level for the 2005 Plan and 150% level for the 2006 Plan are $6.1 million and

$4.9 million for the 2005 Plan and 2006 Plan, respectively. Such awards are payable in cash or, at its 

discretion, the Company can elect to pay the same value in its common stock based upon the Company’s

common stock fair value at the payout date. Upon a change in control, participants will be entitled to 

an immediate payment equal to their target award, or, if higher, an award based on actual performance

through the date of the change in control. For the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the

Company recognized expense related to the 2005 Plan and 2006 Plan of $3.4 million and $0.5 million,

respectively. 

In February 2005, the Company adopted the 2007 performance cycle, or the 2007 Plan, which begins

on January 1, 2005 and will end on December 31, 2007. Payouts may be in the range of 0% to 200% of the

participant’s salary and the maximum potential payout, assuming objectives are achieved at the 200%

level for the 2007 Plan is $7.1 million. 

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, which added new Section 409A to the Internal Revenue

Code, changed the income tax treatment and impacts the design and administration of certain plans 

that provide for the deferral of compensation, such as the Company’s 2000 deferred compensation plan.

In February, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Celgene Corporation 2005 Deferred

Compensation Plan, effective as of January 1, 2005, which will operate as the Company’s ongoing deferred

compensation plan and which is intended to comply with Section 409A. The terms of the 2005 deferred

compensation plan are substantially similar to the terms of the 2000 deferred compensation plan, except

that the timing of deferral elections and distribution events were modified to comply with the new rules.

The Company’s Board of Directors also froze the 2000 deferred compensation plan, effective as of

December 31, 2004, so that no additional contributions or deferrals can be made to that plan. Accrued

benefits under the frozen plan will continue to be governed by the terms of the frozen plan under the 

tax laws in effect prior to the enactment of Section 409A. 

GelclairTM Co-Promotion Agreement: In October 2002, the Company entered into an agreement

with Cell Pathways, Inc. for the co-promotion of GelclairTM, primarily in the U.S. oncology market.

Subsequently, on June 12, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with OSI Pharmaceuticals 

Inc., which acquired Cell Pathways, Inc. in June 2003, to terminate the aforementioned agreement. 

The effective date of the termination agreement is July 1, 2003 and, under that agreement, the Company

received $3.0 million in July 2003, upon the transfer of promotional materials as specified in the 

agreement, and received an additional $3.0 million on July 1, 2004 based on the Company’s successful

completion of certain transitional services through December 31, 2003, as defined in the agreement. 

The aggregate revenue of $6.0 million was recognized as collaborative agreement revenue on a straight-

line basis over the six-month service period ended December 31, 2003. 

16. Sponsored Research,
License and 
Other Agreements
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Pharmion: In November 2001, the Company entered into a license agreement with Pharmion

Corporation and Pharmion GmbH, or Pharmion, in which the Company granted an exclusive royalty-

bearing license for its intellectual property covering thalidomide and S.T.E.P.S.® in all countries outside of

North America, Japan, China, Taiwan and Korea in exchange for licensing payments and upon regulatory

approvals royalties based on commercial sales. The agreement terminates upon the tenth anniversary 

of the regulatory approval of thalidomide in the United Kingdom and pursuant to the agreement, the

Company is entitled to receive $0.3 million on a quarterly basis beginning in December 2001, until the

regulatory approval in the United Kingdom is received. In April 2003, the Company entered into an

amendment to the aforementioned agreement whereby Pharmion has agreed to provide the Company 

an aggregate of $8.0 million in research funding for the further clinical development of THALOMID® 

during the period commencing on the date of the amendment and ending December 31, 2005. The

research funding consists of three installments of $1.0 million each, payable upon execution of the 

agreement, September 30, 2003 and December 31, 2003, four quarterly installments of approximately

$0.8 million each payable in 2004 and four quarterly installments of $0.5 million each payable in 2005.

The Company received four installments totaling $3.0 million in 2004 and three installments totaling 

$3.0 million in 2003, which was recognized as collaborative agreement revenue. 

In April 2003, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with Pharmion whereby

Celgene purchased for $12.0 million a Senior Convertible Promissory Note, or the Note, with a principal

amount of $12.0 million, and a warrant with a five year term to purchase up to 363,636 shares of

Pharmion’s common stock at a purchase price of $11.00 per share, adjusted for Pharmion’s four-for-one

reverse stock split. The Note had a term of five years with an annual interest rate of 6% compounded

semi-annually. The Note had a conversion price of $11.00 per share of Common Stock and was automatically

convertible into common stock under certain conditions. The Note was classified under “Other Assets” in

the Company’s consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2003. In March 2004, the Company converted

the $12.0 million Pharmion Senior Convertible Promissory Note with accrued interest of approximately

$0.7 million into 1,150,511 shares of Pharmion common stock. Additionally, in September 2004, the

Company exercised an aggregate of 789,089 warrants that it had received in connection with the

November 2001 license agreement with Pharmion Corporation and Pharmion GmbH and in connection

with the April 2003 securities purchase agreement with Pharmion. As a result of these transactions, at

December 31, 2004, the Company held 1,939,600 shares of Pharmion common stock which had a fair

value of $81.9 million and was classified as Marketable Securities Available for Sale. The related unrealized

gain of approximately $61.7 million was included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in the

Stockholders’ Equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

In December 2004, following the acquisition of Penn T, the Company revised the product supply

agreement with Pharmion (which was acquired in the Penn T acquisition). Under the modified agreement,

Pharmion paid us a one-time payment of $77.0 million in return for a reduction in their total product

supply purchase price, from 28.0 percent of Pharmion’s thalidomide net sales, including cost of goods to

15.5 percent of net sales. The collaboration also entails Pharmion paying us an additional $8.0 million

over the next three years to support the two companies’ existing thalidomide research and development

efforts and a one-time payment of $3.0 million for granting Pharmion license rights to develop and 

market thalidomide in three additional Asian territories (Hong Kong, Korea and Taiwan), as well as 

eliminating termination rights held by Celgene tied to the regulatory approval of thalidomide in Europe 

in November 2006. The Company recorded deferred revenue of $80 million related to the payments

received to date. Revenue will be recognized over the estimated supply agreement period of 13 years 

on a straight line basis. 

Novartis Pharma AG: In April 2000, the Company granted Novartis Pharma AG an exclusive 

worldwide license to develop and market d-methylphenidate (d-MPH), a chirally pure version of 

RITALIN®. The Company also granted Novartis rights to all its related intellectual property and patents,

including new formulations of the currently marketed RITALIN®. In November 2001, the Company

received FDA approval to market d-MPH that entitled the Company to receive from Novartis royalties 

on the entire family of RITALIN® drugs. 
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In December 2000, the Company signed a collaborative research and license agreement with

Novartis for joint research of selective estrogen receptor modulator compounds, or SERMs, for the 

treatment and prevention of osteoporosis. The Company received a nonrefundable, upfront payment of

$10.0 million and may be entitled to receive additional milestone payments for specific preclinical, clinical

and regulatory endpoints, as well as royalties upon commercialization of products receiving FDA marketing

approval. The upfront payment was amortized over the two-year research period. The Company incurred

costs of approximately $0.4 million and $1.8 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively, related to this 

agreement and extension. 

Serono: In late 2004, the Company assumed co-exclusive rights with Serono SA to discover and 

develop therapeutics that modulate the NFkB pathway utilizing technology and know-how previously

licensed to Serono SA. Celgene made a one-time payment of $6 million to Serono SA, which was recorded

as research and development expense since this relates to undeveloped technology, and will make 

milestone and royalty payments on the sales on any resulting products. Serono SA will have reciprocal

milestone payment and royalty obligations to Celgene for any products Serono SA discovers, develops 

and commercializes utilizing the technology and know-how. Celgene’s research group has significant

expertise in NFkB biology as well as considerable intellectual property in this area. 

S.T.E.P.S. License Agreements: In late 2004, the Company entered into an agreement providing 

manufacturers of isotretinoin (Acutane®) with a non-exclusive license to its patent portfolio directed 

to methods for safely delivering isotretinoin (Acutane®) in potentially high-risk patient populations in

exchange for $0.5 million. The manufacturers of isotretinoin have licensed these patents with the intention

of implementing a new pregnancy risk management system to safely deliver isotretinoin in potentially

high-risk patient populations. The Company is entitled to future royalties under these agreements. 

The provision/(benefit) for taxes on income from continuing operations is as follows: 

2004 2003 2002

United States:

Taxes currently payable:

Federal $0(6,429

State and local $0(4,067 $718 $(98)

Total U.S. tax provision $(10,496 $718 $(98)

International:

Taxes currently payable $(23,486 — —

Deferred income taxes $(23,567) — —

Total international tax provision $000((81) $0 — $0—

Total provision $(10,415 $718 $(98)

17. Income Taxes
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At December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 the tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to

deferred tax assets were as follows: 

2004 2003 2002

As Restated As Restated

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Federal and state net operating

loss carryforwards $53,477 $   — $141,379 $       — $143,720 $       —

Prepaid/deferred items 29,863 — — — — —

Deferred Revenue 24,174 — — — — —

Capitalized research expenses 8,971 — 16,774 — 7,012 —

Research and experimentation 

tax credit carryforwards 17,431 — 9,154 — 7,686 —

Plant and equipment, 

principally due to differences 

in depreciation 2,307 (295) 1,524 — 1,880 —

Inventory 1,362 (928) — — — —

Other Assets — (2,230) — — — —

Intangibles 3,182 (29,761) 5,615 — 5,615 —

Accrued and other expenses 14,590 — 6,686 — 4,802 —

Unrealized losses/(gains) 

on securities — (33,385) 4,188 (8,893) 6,686 (3,899)

Subtotal 155,357 (66,599) 185,320 (8,893) 177,401 (3,899)

Valuation allowance (75,510) — (176,427) — (173,502) —

Total Deferred Taxes $79,847 $(66,599) $     8,893 $(8,893) $003,899 $(3,899)

Net Deferred Tax Asset $13,248 $ — $           — $       — $  — $ —

The Company restated its results for 2003 and 2002. The effect of this restatement was to record a

deferred tax liability of $ 8.9 million and $3.9 million, respectively. The restatement had no tax impact

on the 2003 and 2002 results of operations. 

Recent legislation in certain states has placed a temporary suspension on the full usage of state 

net operating losses to offset state income. 

Reconciliation of the U.S. statutory income tax rate to our effective tax rate for continuing 

operations is as follows: 

Percentages 2004 2003 2002

US statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Earnings taxed at other than US statutory rate 50.5 — —

State taxes, net of federal benefit 4.3 3.3 0.6

Other 1.7 — —

Change in valuation allowance (75.0) (35.5) (35.5)

Effective income tax rate 16.5% 2.8% 0.1%

A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the

deferred tax assets will not be realized. At December 31, 2004, the Company had federal net operating

loss carryforwards of approximately $122.2 million and combined state net operating loss carryforwards

of approximately $ 178.2 million that will expire in the years 2005 through 2023. The Company also has

research and experimentation credit carryforwards of approximately $17.4 million that expire in the years
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2005 through 2023. Ultimate utilization/availability of such net operating losses and credits may be 

curtailed if a significant change in ownership occurs. Signal and Anthrogenesis experienced an ownership

change, as that term is defined in section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, when acquired by Celgene, 

as such, there is an annual limitation on the use of these net operating losses in the amount of approximately

$11.6 million and $3.4 million respectively. Approximately $8.1 million of deferred tax assets acquired in

the Anthrogenesis acquisition at December 31, 2002 consisted primarily of net operating losses; as such

there may be an annual limitation on the Company’s ability to utilize the acquired net operating losses in

the future. Upon realization of the Anthrogenesis acquired tax assets, the Company will credit the benefit

to the related acquired goodwill and other intangibles. 

The deferred tax asset related to the Federal and State net operating loss carryforwards relates to a

tax deduction attributable to stock options. The Company will increase paid in capital if these benefits are

realized for tax purposes. The Company realized stock option deduction benefits in 2004, 2003, and 2002

for income tax purposes and has increased paid in capital in the amount of approximately $14.2 million,

$0.8 million, and $0.1 million respectively. 

Included in other comprehensive income is an unrealized gain on marketable equity securities of

$61.7 million with a corresponding deferred tax liability of $25.3 million offset by a deferred tax asset of

$25.3 million. 

Leases: The Company leases office and research facilities under several operating lease agreements.

The minimum annual rents may be subject to specified annual rental increases. At December 31, 2004,

the non-cancelable lease terms for the operating leases expire at various dates between 2005 and 2012

and each agreement includes renewal options ranging from one or two additional three or five-year

terms. In general, the Company is also required to reimburse the lessors for real estate taxes, insurance,

utilities, maintenance and other operating costs associated with the leases. In December 2001, the

Company entered into a lease arrangement to consolidate the Signal San Diego, California operations 

into one building. Signal completed the occupation of the new facility during the fourth quarter of 2002.

The lease obligation relating to the remaining term of the old lease arrangements, which expired on

December 31, 2003, aggregating approximately $1.0 million, was recognized as an expense in 2002 

and the net book value with respect to related leasehold improvements and other unamortized assets

aggregating $1.1 million was written off during the same period. 

In November 2004, the Company purchased land and several buildings in Summit, New Jersey 

which will enable it to consolidate four New Jersey locations into one corporate headquarters and 

provide the room to accommodate the Company’s expected growth. As a result, the Company is currently

exploring available options to reduce or eliminate the financial impact of existing lease commitments 

on redundant facilities. 

The Company leases certain laboratory equipment and machinery under capital lease arrangements.

Assets held under capital leases are included in plant and equipment and the amortization of these 

assets is included in depreciation expense. 

18. Commitments
and Contingencies
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Future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease

terms in excess of one year) and future minimum capital lease payments as of December 31, 2004 are: 

Operating leases Capital leases

2005 $03,574 $09

2006 3,462 2

2007 3,256 2

2008 2,979 —

2009 2,596 —

Thereafter 6,350 —

Total minimum lease payments $22,217 $13

Less amount representing interest 1

Present value of net minimum capital lease payments 12

Less current installments of obligations under capital leases 8

Obligations under capital leases, excluding current installments $04

Total facilities rental expense under operating leases was approximately $4.3 million in 2004, 

$3.9 million in 2003 and $3.0 million in 2002, excluding the write-off of the lease obligation for the 

old Signal facilities 

Employment Agreements: The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and

employees. Employment contracts provide for base compensation and an annual target bonus based

upon achievement of Company performance measures and annual increases in base compensation

reflecting annual reviews and related salary adjustments. Base compensation expense subject to 

employment agreements aggregated $2.6 million and $2.5 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. The

outstanding future commitment for base compensation related to employment contracts as of December

31, 2004 is approximately $3.3 million, including $2.6 million in 2005 and $0.7 million in 2006 (excluding

any change in control provisions). Employees covered under employment contracts who are terminated

upon the occurrence of a change in control may among other things be entitled to receive from the

Company a lump sum equal to three times such officer’s and employee’s base salary and bonus, 

payment by the Company of such officer’s and employee’s benefit premiums for three years and full 

and immediate vesting of all stock options and equity awards held by such officer and employee. 

Contracts: On October 21, 2004, the Company, through an indirect wholly owned subsidiary, acquired

all of the outstanding shares of Penn T Limited (“Penn T”), a worldwide supplier of THALOMID®, from a

consortium of private investors for a US dollar equivalency of approximately $117.4 million in cash, net

of cash acquired and including working capital adjustments and total estimated transaction costs. Penn T

was subsequently renamed Celgene UK Manufacturing II, Limited, or CUK II. In connection with the acqui-

sition, the Company and CUK II entered into a Technical Services Agreement with Penn Pharmaceutical

Services Limited, or PPSL, and Penn Pharmaceutical Holding Limited pursuant to which PPSL provides the

services and facilities necessary for the manufacture of THALOMID® and other thalidomide formulations.

The total cost to be incurred over the five-year minimum agreement period is approximately $11.0 million.

On March 31, 2003, the Company entered into a three-year supply and distribution agreement with

GlaxoSmithKline, or GSK, to distribute, promote and sell ALKERAN® (melphalan), a therapy approved by

the FDA for the palliative treatment of multiple myeloma and for palliation of carcinoma of the ovary.

Under the terms of the agreement, Celgene purchases ALKERAN® tablets and ALKERAN® for injection

from GlaxoSmithKline and distributes the products in the United States under the Celgene label. The

agreement requires the Company to purchase certain minimum quantities each year for an initial 

three-year term under a take-or-pay arrangement aggregating $56.6 million over such period. The 

remaining minimum purchase requirements at December 31, 2004 were $25.0 million. 
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As discussed in Note 5, the Company signed an exclusive license agreement with CMCC, which 

terminated any existing thalidomide analog agreements between CMCC and EntreMed and directly

granted to Celgene an exclusive worldwide license for the analog patents. Under the agreement, the

Company is required to pay CMCC $2.0 million between 2005 and 2006, the present value of which was

expensed in 2002. Additional payments are possible under the agreement depending on the successful

development and commercialization of thalidomide analogs. 

In October 2003, the Company signed an agreement with Institute of Drug Technology Australia

Limited, or IDT, for the manufacture of finished dosage form of THALOMID® capsules. The agreement

requires minimum purchases of THALOMID® capsules of $4.7 million for the three-year term commencing

with the FDA’s approval of IDT as an alternate supplier. This agreement provides the Company with 

additional capacity and reduces its dependency on one manufacturer for the production of THALOMID®. 

The Company has entered into various service agreements with Contract Research Organizations, 

or CROs, to provide services in the management of certain pivotal clinical trials. Management services

provided by CROs typically include but are not limited to; assistance with clinical monitoring activities,

assistance with study enrollment and other management oversight activities. Pivotal clinical trials are

currently being conducted with the following CROs; PharmaNet, Inc., Icon Clinical Research, PPD

Development LLC, Research Pharmaceuticals Services Inc., Kendle International and Harrison Clinical

Research. Service agreements with these CROs provide that either party may early terminate such 

agreement by written notice to the other party. Payments made related to services provided by the 

above CROs were $30.4 million, $22.5 million and $3.8 million in 2004, 2003 and 2002 respectively. 

and are included in research and development expenses. 

Contingencies: The Company believes it maintains insurance coverage adequate for its current

needs. The Company’s operations are subject to environmental laws and regulations, which impose 

limitations on the discharge of pollutants into the air and water and establish standards for the 

treatment, storage and disposal of solid and hazardous wastes. The Company reviews the effects of 

such laws and regulations on its operations and modifies its operations as appropriate. The Company

believes it is in substantial compliance with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. 

The Company operates in two business segments - Human Pharmaceuticals and Stem Cell Therapies.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as described in the summary of significant

accounting policies. 

Human Pharmaceuticals: The Human Pharmaceutical segment is engaged in the discovery, 

development and commercialization of innovative therapies designed to treat cancer and immuno-

inflammatory diseases through regulation of cellular, genomic and proteomic targets. This segment

includes Signal Pharmaceuticals, LLC. (Celgene Research & Development), a privately held San Diego-

based biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and development of drugs that regulate

genes and proteins associated with diseases. 

Cellular Therapeutics: With the acquisition of Anthrogenesis Corp. in December 2002, the Company

acquired a biotherapeutics company pioneering the development of stem cell therapies and biomaterials

derived from human placental tissue that now operates as Celgene Cellular Therapeutics, or CCT. CCT has

organized its business into three main units: (1) stem cells banking for transplantation, (2) private stem

cell banking and (3) the development of biomaterials for organ and tissue repair. CCT has developed 

proprietary methods for producing biomaterials for organ and tissue repair (i.e. BIOVANCETM,

AMBIODRYTM). Additionally, CCT has developed proprietary technology for collecting, processing 

and storing placental stem cells with potentially broad therapeutic applications in cancer, as well 

as autoimmune, cardiovascular, neurological, and degenerative diseases. 

19. Segments and 
Related Information
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Summarized segment information is as follows: 

Human Stem Cell
Pharmaceuticals Therapies Unallocated(2) Total

2004

Total assets $334,932 $23,824 $748,537 $1,107,293

Total revenues 372,957 4,545 — 377,502

Income before income taxes(1) 78,810 (15,639) — 63,171

2003

Total assets (as restated) $135,123 $10,936 $666,967 $0,813,026

Total revenues 267,980 3,495 — 271,475

Income (loss) before income taxes

(as restated)(1) 42,279 (16,618) — 25,661

2002

Total assets (as restated) $066,301 $09,312 $261,182 $0,336,795

(1) Expenses incurred at the consolidated level are included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment. 
(2) Unallocated corporate assets consist of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities available for sale. 

OPERATIONS BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA: Prior to the Company’s October 21, 2004 acquisition of Penn T,

the Company marketed and sold its products exclusively in the United States and Canada. Furthermore,

all of the Company’s customers were also located in North America. Penn T sells THALOMID® in Europe to

Pharmion, who in turn sells to customers located in countries outside of North America, Japan and China.

Also, the Company receives royalties from Novartis on their international sales of RITALIN® and RITALIN® LA. 

Geographic Revenues 2004 2003 2002

North America $374,686 $271,475 $135,746

All Other 2,816 – –

Total Revenues $377,502 $271,475 $135,746

Long Lived Assets 2004 2003

North America $052,712 $028,731

All Other 144,820 –

Total Long Lived Assets $197,532 $028,731

MAJOR CUSTOMERS: As is typical in the pharmaceutical industry, the Company sells its products 

primarily through wholesale distributors and therefore, wholesale distributors account for a large portion

of the Company’s net product revenues. In 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were three customers that each

accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s total revenue. Sales to each such customer in 2004, 

2003 and 2002 were as follows: Cardinal Health 29.5%, 32.5% and 30.9%; McKesson Corp. 18.6%, 

17.4% and 17.1%; and Amerisource Bergen Corp. 17.9%, 23.7% and 8.0%. In 2002, Bergen Brusnwig 

Drug Company accounted for 16.2% of consolidated total revenue in 2002. Sales to such customers 

were included in the results of the Human Pharmaceuticals segment. 
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20. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

(Thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, 

unless otherwise indicated) 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

As Restated(5) As Restated(5) As Restated(5)

2004

Total revenue $82,873 $87,753 $101,468 $105,408 $377,502

Gross profit(2) 61,726 64,916 68,637 75,566 270,845

Income tax benefit (provision) (801) (1,156) (1,974) (6,484) (10,415)

Net income 8,914 2,595 19,008 22,239 52,756

Net earnings per common share -

basic(3) $000.05 $000.02 $0000.12 $0000.13 $0000.32

diluted(3) $000.05 $000.02 $0000.11 $0000.13 $0000.31

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding -

basic 162,950 163,674 164,091 164,749 163,869

diluted 174,526 176,854 177,064 173,669 172,855

As Originally Reported 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2004

Total revenue $82,873 $87,753 $101,468 $105,408 $377,502

Gross profit(2) 61,726 64,916 68,637 75,566 270,845

Income tax benefit (provision) (801) (1,156) (1,974) (6,484) (10,415)

Net income 8,620 12,444 21,254 12,360 54,678

Net earnings per common share -

basic(3) $000.05 $000.08 $0000.13 $0000.08 $0000.33

diluted(3) $000.05 $000.07 $0000.12 $0000.07 $0000.32

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding -

basic 162,950 163,674 164,091 164,749 163,869

diluted 174,526 176,854 177,064 173,669 172,855

As Restated(5) 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2003(1)

Total revenue $49,089 $67,286 $74,332 $80,768 $271,475

Gross profit(2) 39,251 48,623 49,513 54,116 191,503

Income tax benefit (provision) (135) (210) (378) 5 (718)

Net income 323 22,399 7,290 (4,319) 25,693

Net earnings per common share -

basic(3) — $000.14 $000.04 $,0(0.03) $0000.16

diluted(3) — $000.13 $000.04 $0,(0.03) $0000.15

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding -

basic(4) 160,768 161,678 162,094 162,524 161,774

diluted(4) 167,880 170,268 172,658 162,524 170,796
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As Originally Reported 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Year

2003(1)

Total revenue $49,089 $67,286 $74,332 $80,768 $271,475

Gross profit(2) 39,251 48,623 49,513 54,116 191,503

Income tax benefit (provision) (135) (210) (378) 5 (718)

Net income 952 2,894 4,293 5,372 13,511

Net earnings per common share -

basic(3) $000.01 $000.02 $000.03 $000.03 $0000.08

diluted(3) $000.01 $000.02 $000.02 $000.03 $0000.08

Weighted average number of shares of common

stock outstanding -

basic(4) 160,768 161,678 162,094 162,524 161,774

diluted(4) 167,880 170,268 172,658 174,244 170,796

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to the quarterly and full year periods for 2003 in order to conform to the presentation for the year ended 

December 2004. 
(2) Gross profit is computed by subtracting cost of goods sold from net product sales. 
(3) The sum of the quarters may not equal the full year basic and diluted earnings per share since each period is calculated separately. 
(4) The weighted average number of shares outstanding for 2003 has been adjusted to reflect the two- for- one stock split. 
(5) The Company restated its consolidated financial statements related to the accounting treatment for a warrant received in connection with the 

December 31, 2002 litigation settlement and related agreements with EntreMed, Inc. and CMCC. See footnote 2 for further details. 

Schedule – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(Dollars in Thousands)
Additions

Balance at charged to
beginning of expense or Balance at

Year ended December 31, year sales Deductions end of year

2004

Allowance for doubtful accounts $0,873 $0,0867 $0,0370 $01,370

Allowance for sales returns 8,368 16,279(1) 15,052 9,595

Allowance for customer discounts 657 7,448(1) 7,267 838

$9,898 $24,594 $22,689 $11,803

2003

Allowance for doubtful accounts $729 $448 $304 $873

Allowance for sales returns 2,783 12,659(1) 7,074 8,368

Allowance for customer discounts 291 5,503(1) 5,137 657

$3,803 $18,610 $12,515 $09,898

2002

Allowance for doubtful accounts $708 $295 $274 $729

Allowance for sales returns 857 4,777(1) 2,851 2,783

Allowance for customer discounts 291 2,412(1) 2,412 291

$1,856 $07,484 $05,537 $03,803

(1) Amounts are a reduction from gross sales. 
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Stockholder Information

Celgene common stock is traded on the NASDAQ National Market System. 

NASDAQ Symbol: CELG. Celgene options are listed on the Chicago Board Options

Exchange. CBOE symbol: LQH.

As of April 7, 2005, there were 49,885 holders of record of the Company’s 

common stock. The following table sets forth the intra-day high and low sales 

price of the common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the 

NASDAQ National Market System and has been adjusted to reflect the 2 for 1 stock

split in October 2004.

2004 2003

High Low High Low

First Quarter $24.46 18.74 $13.98 10.08

Second Quarter 30.30 22.50 18.57 12.36

Third Quarter 30.09 23.33 24.44 14.26

Fourth Quarter 32.58 25.75 24.08 18.26

The price quotations set forth above represent prices to dealers and do not

include retail markups, markdowns or commissions. Celgene has not paid, and 

does not anticipate paying in the near future, dividends on its common stock.

Stockholders, analysts and other representatives of the financial community 

wishing more information about Celgene should direct their inquiries to:

Investor Relations

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, New Jersey 07901

(908) 673-9000

Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders of Celgene Corporation will be held on 

Wednesday, June 15, 2005, at Celgene Headquarters in Summit, NJ, at 1:00 P.M.

Form 10-K

Copies of the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 may be obtained 

by stockholders without charge upon written inquiry to the Corporate Secretary 

at the corporate headquarters.

Ambio-dry™, Biovance™ and LifebankUSA™ are trademarks of Celgene Corporation       

REVLIMID®, IMiDs®, THALOMID® and S.T.E.P.S. are registered trademarks of Celgene Corporation

FOCALIN™ and FOCALIN-XR™ are trademarks of Novartis Pharma AG

Ritalin® is a registered trademark of Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation

ALKERAN® is a registered trademark of Glaxo SmithKline Corporation

PRMP™ is a trademark of Pharmion Corporation © Copyright 2005 Celgene Corporation

Corporate Headquarters

Celgene Corporation

86 Morris Avenue

Summit, NJ 07901

(908) 673-9000

Transfer Agent

American Stock Transfer 

& Trust Company

59 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10039

Independent Auditors

KPMG LLP

150 John F. Kennedy Parkway

Short Hills, New Jersey 07078

Certain information 

contained in this annual 

report are forward looking

statements. Factors that

appear with the forward 

looking statements or in 

the Company’s Securities 

and Exchange Commission 

filings could cause the

Company’s actual results 

to differ materially from 

those expressed in any 

forward looking statements 

in this annual report.

Visit our website at

www.celgene.com

Corporate Information

On March 7, 2005, we announced a major breakthrough regarding our leading 

investigative oral compound, REVLIMID, in treating multiple myeloma, a serious 

blood cancer.

An independent committee reported positive data from two important Phase III

trials in previously treated multiple myeloma patients who faced very limited options

for further therapy. Patients in the trials receiving REVLIMID plus dexamethasone

showed a statistically significant improvement in the length of time before their 

disease progressed, compared to patients receiving dexamethasone and a placebo. 

The results were so striking that all patients who were not on REVLIMID enrolled in

the 97 clinical sites worldwide were offered the opportunity to add REVLIMID to 

their dexamethasone treatment regimen. 

Based on these extraordinary clinical results, we accelerated discussions with the

Food and Drug Administration and international regulatory authorities regarding the

submission of this data for potential approval to market REVLIMID. In the meantime,

we are working to create REVLIMID Expanded Access Programs in the U.S. and Europe

for patients in need. 

REVLIMID® Exceeds Expectations
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Celgene is committed to 

delivering innovative therapies 

designed to improve the lives 

of patients worldwide.

Celgene2004


